
           
 

AGENDA
ESCAMBIA COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT

February 20, 2019–8:30 a.m.
Escambia County Central Office Complex

3363 West Park Place, Room 104
             
1. Call to Order.  
 

2. Swearing in of Staff and acceptance of staff as expert witness  
 

3. Acceptance of the BOA Meeting Package with the Development Services Staff Findings-of-Fact, into evidence.  
 

4. Proof of Publication and waive the reading of the legal advertisement.  
 

5. Approval of Resume Minutes.  
 

A.   Approval of Resume Meeting Minutes from the January 16, 2019 Board of Adjustment Meeting.
 

6. Consideration of the following cases:  
 

A.   CASE NO.: AP-2017-02 
ADDRESS: 11400 Blk. Gulf Beach Hwy.
REQUESTED APPEAL: An appeal of a compatibilty decision by the Planning Official
REQUESTED BY: David Theriaque, Agent for Teramore Development, LLC and Shu Shurett and Leo Huang, Owners

 

7. Discussion Items.  
 

8. Old/New Business.  
 

9. Announcement.

The next Board of Adjustment Meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, March 20, 2019 at 8:30 a.m., at the Escambia
County Central Office Complex, Room 104, 3363 West Park Place.

 

 

10. Adjournment.  
 



   
Board of Adjustment   5. A.           
Meeting Date: 02/20/2019  

Attachments
Draft January 16, 2019 Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes



D R A F T
RESUMÉ OF THE MEETING OF THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT

HELD January 16, 2019

CENTRAL OFFICE COMPLEX
3363 WEST PARK PLACE, BOARD CHAMBERS

PENSACOLA, FLORIDA
(8:30 A.M. – 10:33 A.M.)

Present: Auby Smith   
  Bill Stromquist   
  Judy Gund   
  Jennifer Rigby   
  Michael Godwin   
  Walker Wilson   
Absent: VACANT
Staff Present: Caleb MacCartee, Urban Planner, Planning & Zoning

Horace Jones, Director, Development Services
John Fisher, Senior Urban Planner, Planning & Zoning
Juan Lemos, Senior Planner, Planning & Zoning
Kayla Meador, Sr Office Assistant
Kristin Hual, Assistant County Attorney

 

REGULAR BOA AGENDA
 

               

1.  Call to Order.
 

2.  Swearing in of Staff and acceptance of staff as expert witness
 

3.  Acceptance of the BOA Meeting Package with the Development Services Staff
Findings-of-Fact, into evidence.

 
  Motion by Board Member Auby Smith, Seconded by Board Member Judy Gund 

Motion was made to accept the January 16, 2019 BOA meeting packet. 
  Vote: 6 - 0 Approved
 

4.  Proof of Publication and waive the reading of the legal advertisement.
 
  Motion by Board Member Auby Smith, Seconded by Board Member Judy Gund 

The Clerk provided proof of publication and motion was made to accept. 



  Vote: 6 - 0 Approved
 

5.  Approval of Resume Minutes.
 

A.     Approval of Resume Meeting Minutes from the December 19, 2018 Board of
Adjustment Meeting.

  

 
  Motion by Board Member Auby Smith, Seconded by Board Member Judy Gund 

Motion was made to approve the December 19, 2018, BOA Resume Meeting
Minutes. 

  Vote: 6 - 0 Approved
 

6.  Consideration of the following cases:
 

A.     Case No.: CU-2019-01 
Address: 15 Manor Drive
Request: Conditional use to place an accessory structure in the front

yard of a waterfront lot
Requested
by:

Andrew Blanton, Agent for Jerry Treadway, Owner

No BOA member acknowledged any ex parte communication regarding this item. 

No BOA member acknowledged visiting the site. 

No BOA member refrained from voting on this matter due to any conflict of interest.

  

 
  Motion by Board Member Michael Godwin, Seconded by Board Member Judy

Gund 

Motion was made to approve the Conditional Use, with the condition that it
must meet all floodplain management requirements. 

  Vote: 6 - 0 Approved
 

B.     Case No.: CU-2019-02 
Address: 216 N Old Corry Field Road
Request: Conditional use to allow automobile sales, used autos only
Requested
by:

Wiley C. "Buddy" Page, Agent for Iuri Manolov & Valeriia
Dvoriadkina

No BOA member acknowledged any ex parte communication regarding this item. 

No BOA member acknowledged visiting the site. 

No BOA member refrained from voting on this matter due to any conflict of interest.

  

 
  Motion by Board Member Auby Smith, Seconded by Board Member Michael



  Motion by Board Member Auby Smith, Seconded by Board Member Michael
Godwin 

Motion was made to delay until a pre-app has been completed by the DRC. 
  Vote: 6 - 0 Approved
 

C.     Case No.: V-2019-01 
Address: 15 Manor Drive
Request: Variance request to reduce the required front property line

setback for the placement of an accessory structure on a
waterfront lot from 60 feet to 25 feet

Requested
by:

Andrew Blanton, Agent for Jerry Treadway, Owner

No BOA member acknowledged any ex parte communication regarding this item. 

No BOA member acknowledged visiting the site. 

No BOA member refrained from voting on this matter due to any conflict of interest.

  

 
  Motion by Vice Chairman Walker Wilson, Seconded by Board Member Auby

Smith 

Motion was made to approve the Variance, with the condition that it must meet
all floodplain management requirements.   

  Vote: 5 - 1 Approved
 

Voted No: Board Member Jennifer Rigby 
 

D.     Case No.: V-2019-02 
Address: 1522 White Caps Lane
Request: Variance to reduce the required front yard setback of 16

feet to 9 feet
Requested
by:

Wiley C. "Buddy" Page, Agent for Mel and Pauline Kerns,
Owners

No BOA member acknowledged any ex parte communication regarding this item. 

No BOA member acknowledged visiting the site. 

No BOA member refrained from voting on this matter due to any conflict of interest.

  

 
  Motion by Vice Chairman Walker Wilson, Seconded by Board Member Michael

Godwin 

Motion was made to accept Exhibit map from applicant. 
  Vote: 6 - 0 Approved
 
 



  Motion by Board Member Michael Godwin, Seconded by Board Member Auby
Smith 

Motion was made to disagree with Staff's Findings of Fact and approve the
Varinace. 

  Vote: 6 - 0 Approved
 

7.  Discussion Items.
 

8.  Old/New Business.
 

9.  Announcement.

The next Board of Adjustment Meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, February 20,
2019, at 8:30 a.m., at the Escambia County Central Office Complex, Room 104,
3363 West Park Place.

 

10.  Adjournment.
 



   
Board of Adjustment   6. A.           
Meeting Date: 02/20/2019  

I. SUBMISSION DATA:
APPLICANT: David Theriaque, Agent for Teramore Development, LLC and Shu Shurett and
Leo Huang, Owners
DATE OF ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION: July 24, 2017
DATE OF APPEAL APPLICATION: August 7, 2017
PROJECT ADDRESS: 11400 Blk. of Gulf Beach Hwy.
PROPERTY REFERENCE NO.: 23-3S-31-2001-000-000
ZONING DISTRICT: Commercial
FUTURE LAND USE: Mixed-Use Suburban

III. REQUESTED APPEAL::
On July 24, 2017, the Escambia County Planning Official issued a determination of land
use compatibility in relation to a request from Teramore Development, LLC. 

The determination was that a proposed Dollar General store would not be compatible
based on location criteria found in Section 3-2.1 of the county Land Development Code.

The submitted administrative appeal seeks to overturn the decision of the planning
official in this matter.

III. RELEVANT APPEAL AUTHORITY:
Land Development Code of Escambia County, Florida (Ordinance 96-3 as amended),
Section: 2.04.00 & 2.04.01

Sections 2.04.00, Appeal of Administrative Decisions and 2.04.01, Procedures for the
Appeal of Administrative Decisions of the Escambia County Land Development Code
(Ordinance No. 96-3 as amended), provide the relevant authority for the BOA’s review of
administrative decisions.

A. The BOA is authorized to hear and to rule upon any appeal made by those persons
aggrieved by administration of this Code. An administrative decision, or staff
interpretation, shall not be reversed, altered, or modified by the BOA unless it finds that:



1. A written application for the appeal was submitted within 15 days of the administrative
decision or action indicating the section of this Code under which said appeal applies
together with a statement of the grounds on which the appeal is based; and

2. That the person filing said appeal has established that the decision or action of the
administrative official was arbitrary and capricious; or

3. An aggrieved party who files an appeal of a decision of the DRC approving or
approving with conditions a development plan application, must show, by competent
substantial evidence that:

(i) The decision of the DRC is not in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan or the
Land Development Code;

(ii) Their property will suffer an adverse impact as a result of the development approval
decision;

(iii) The adverse impact must be to a specific interest protected or furthered by the
Comprehensive Plan or the Land Development Code; and

(iv) It must be greater in degree than any adverse impact shared by the community at
large.

4. In the event the owner, developer, or applicant is aggrieved or adversely affected by a
denial of a development plan application or the imposition of conditions, the owner,
developer or applicant filing the appeal must show, by competent substantial evidence,
that the denial of the development plan or the imposition of conditions is neither required
nor supported by the Comprehensive Plan or the Land Development Code or the
application of technical design standards and specifications adopted by reference in the
Code, or Concurrency Management Procedures and is, therefore, arbitrary and
capricious.

IV. BACKGROUND INFORMATION
The request by Teramore Development, LLC for land use compatibility was denied on
July 24, 2017, by Escambia County Planning Official, Horace Jones.

The Administrative Appeal was filed with the Board of Adjustment on August 7, 2017,
within the 15 day deadline provided in the LDC.

The case was added to the agenda for the scheduled October 18, 2017 BOA meeting.

At the October 18, 2017, BOA meeting, the Board voted 5-0 to deny the appeal of the
Planning Officials Determination. The Board amended their findings to add that their
decision was based on competent and substantial evidence presented by the expert
witnesses.

At the October 17, 2018, BOA meeting, the Board granted a continuance to the Nov. 14,



At the October 17, 2018, BOA meeting, the Board granted a continuance to the Nov. 14,
2018 BOA meeting.

Attachments
AP-2017-02
Order Granting Petition for Writ of Certiorari Signed by Judge Duncan 8-3-18
Notice of Expert and Supplemental Authority Filed by Meredith Crawford
Attachment to Notice of Expert and Supplemental Authority
Letter from David Theriaque dated 11/9/18
Transcripts from 10/18/17 BOA Meeting
Notice of Continuance



 

 

 

 

 

AP-2017-02 

 
 



PA
LM

LA
KE

D R

CH
AL

LE
NG

ER
W

A Y

SEAGLADE DR
L ONGWOODDR

GR
AN

D E
L A

G O
O N

B L
VD

MANATEE DR

CORSAIR DRBEARCATCT GULF BEACH HWY

SANDCLIFF DR

BART RAM LN

BA
LF

OU
R

PL

AVIA
LN

GL
AD

ES
 L

N

NAPLES DR

CHANDEL LE DR

BALSA CTBONITA DR

ELECTRA LN
FIREFLY DR

C LEARL A KE DR

NASSAU ST

CACAO LN

MAKOST

FERDINAND DR

GRAN D E

L AGOO N CT

AL
VI

N
DR

GRA N DE
LAGO O N DR

GRUMANN DR

CHANDELLELAKE DR

PALM

LAKE
DR

CHANT ICL EER DR

CARSONDR

CH
A N

DE

LLE

CI
R

GARCON
SWAMP

BIG
LAGOON

PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
MINOR ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL ROAD0 1,000 2,000 3,000

Ft

AP-2017-02
LOCATION MAP

Planning and Zoning Dept.

This map
is provided for information 

purposes only. The data is not
guaranteed accurate or suitable
for any use other than that for 

which it was gathered.
Andrew Holmer



AVIA LN

JE
N N

Y
LN

SEAG LADE DR

GULF BEACH HWY

HDR

HDR

HDR

LDR

LDR
LDR

HDR

HDR

Com

CH
AN

DE
LL

E 
DR

CO
BI

A 
ST

CH
AL

L E
NG

ER
W

AY

CORSAIR DR

ELECTR A LN

GUL F
BE AC H HWY

DAUNTLESS DR

SEAGLADE DR

CHANDELL E
CIR

BIG
LAGOON

PARCELS
PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
MINOR ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL ROAD0 300 600 900

Ft

AP-2017-02
500' RADIUS ZONING

Planning and Zoning Dept.

This map
is provided for information 

purposes only. The data is not
guaranteed accurate or suitable
for any use other than that for 

which it was gathered.
Andrew Holmer



AVIA LN

JE
N N

Y
LN

SEAG LADE DR

GULF BEACH HWY

MU-S

MU-S

MU-S
MU-S

MU-S

MU-S
MU-S

CH
AN

DE
LL

E 
DR

CO
BI

A 
ST

CH
AL

L E
NG

ER
W

AY

CORSAIR DR

ELECTR A LN

GUL F
BE AC H HWY

DAUNTLESS DR

SEAGLADE DR

CHANDELL E
CIR

BIG
LAGOON

PARCELS
PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
MINOR ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL ROAD0 300 600 900

Ft

AP-2017-02
FUTURE LAND USE

Planning and Zoning Dept.

This map
is provided for information 

purposes only. The data is not
guaranteed accurate or suitable
for any use other than that for 

which it was gathered.
Andrew Holmer



CHAL
LE

NG

ER

W
AY

CH
AL

LE
NG

ER
 W

AY
CH

AL
LE

N G
ER

W
A Y

COB IA
ST

BEARCAT CT

GU LF B EACH H WY

AVIA LN
JENNY

LN

SEAGLADE DR

PARCELS
PRINCIPAL ARTERIAL
MINOR ARTERIAL
COLLECTOR
LOCAL ROAD0 150 300 450

Ft

AP-2017-02
AERIAL MAP

Planning and Zoning Dept.

This map
is provided for information 

purposes only. The data is not
guaranteed accurate or suitable
for any use other than that for 

which it was gathered.
Andrew Holmer



Public Hearing 
Sign



Looking onto Subject Property



Looking East along Gulf Beach Hwy.



Looking West along Gulf Beach Hwy.

















































































Filing # 76001034 E-Filed 08/06/2018 10:33:49 AM































































































































































































































































































































WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 1 to 4
Page 1

   MEETING OF THE ESCAMBIA COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT

          Proceedings held in the above-styled cause

before the Escambia County Board of Adjustment on the

18th day of October 2017, commencing at 8:30 a.m., at

Escambia County Central Office Complex, 3363 West Park

Place, Room 104, Pensacola, Florida 32505 reported by

Rebecca T. Fussell.

Page 3

1                   INDEX OF PROCEEDINGS
2

3

4                                                   PAGE
5

6 PROCEEDINGS..........................................4
7 ALLARA MILLS GUTCHER
8 DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. THERIAQUE.................14
9 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAWFORD...................27

10 REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. THERIAQUE...............43
11 RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAWFORD.................47
12 ANDREW HOLMER
13 DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAWFORD..................54
14 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THERIAQUE..................55
15 HORACE JONES
16 DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAWFORD..................58
17 CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THERIAQUE..................68
18 REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. CRAWFORD................80
19 CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER............................161
20

21

22

23

24

25

Page 2

1                       APPEARANCES
2
3
4 BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT MEMBERS:
5 Auby Smith, Chairman

Bill Stromquist
6 Walker Wilson

Judy Gund
7 Michael Godwin
8
9 ABSENT:

10 Frederick J. Gant
Jennifer Rigby Staff

11
12

STAFF PRESENT:
13

Andrew Holmer, Division Manager, Planning & Zoning
14 Kayla Meador, Senior Office Assistant

Kristin Hual, Assistant County Attorney
15 Meredith Crawford, Assistant County Attorney

Horace Jones, Director, Development Services
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 4

1                  P R O C E E D I N G S
2           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Our next case is Appeal Case
3      2017-02.
4                Board members, have there been any ex
5      parte communications regarding this case?
6           MS. GUND:  I had a phone call this morning
7      from Jonathan Owen, and we talked about not
8      necessarily this case in general, but it was in
9      general, just about private property rights, the

10      Land Development Code, that kind of thing.
11           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Counsel, do you see any problem
12      with Judy voting?
13           MS. HUAL:  No.
14           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Does anyone have knowledge or
15      information obtained from a site visit or other
16      sources?
17           MR. WILSON:  Mr. Chairman, I also had an ex
18      parte communication.  I received a Facebook message
19      from someone I do not know by the name of Sarah Ann
20      Keenan requesting that I vote to consider putting
21      this Dollar General in place -- to not put it in
22      place because it would affect her property values.
23      I did not respond, but I did receive that message.
24           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Counsel, any problem?
25           MS. HUAL:  No.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 5 to 8
Page 5

1           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.
2           MR. GODWIN:  Mr. Chairman, I received a voice
3      mail this morning from a friend that lives in the
4      area, and, of course, I didn't respond to it at
5      all, but it was a general conversation, but the --
6      this application was mentioned, so...
7           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Counselor?
8           MS. HUAL:  No.
9                But I will add, as to any ex parte

10      communication that may have occurred, if either
11      party wishes to question the board members
12      concerning those communications, they are free to
13      do so.
14           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.  Thank you.
15           MR. STROMQUIST:  I also got a message from
16      somebody that I didn't know.  And as far as the
17      facts of the conversation, I deleted the message.
18           MR. CHAIRMAN:  I feel slighted.  I didn't get
19      a message.
20                Does any board member intend to refrain
21      from voting due to a voting conflict of interest?
22                (No response)
23           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Seeing none.
24                Would the individuals who are a party to
25      this item, please come to the podium and identify

Page 7

1      Pensacola 32504.
2           MR. CHAIRMAN:  If you will, raise your right
3      hand and be sworn.
4                (Witnesses sworn.)
5           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you-all.  You may make
6      your presentation.
7           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  May
8      I approach?
9           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes.

10           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.
11           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Let's see.  Has this been
12      presented to staff?
13           MR. THERIAQUE:  I'm going to give them a copy
14      as well.  Yes, sir.
15           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Does staff have any objection
16      to this, to the board considering whether or not to
17      accept this as evidence?
18           MR. THERIAQUE:  I would like to walk through
19      it so that I can identify what the documents are.
20           MR. HOLMER:  Mr. Chairman, most, if not all of
21      this, is already in the meeting packet that was
22      e-mailed to you.
23           MR. CHAIRMAN:  This?
24           MR. HOLMER:  Yes.  Most of all this.
25           MR. CHAIRMAN:  I'm going to call for a motion

Page 6

1      yourselves and state your name and address for the
2      record and be sworn in.
3                If you're an -- are you an attorney?
4           MR. THERIAQUE:  Yes, sir.
5           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  You don't have to be
6      sworn in.
7           MR. THERIAQUE:  Right.
8           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Are the others attorneys also?
9           MR. THERIAQUE:  No.  They are potential

10      witnesses, sir.
11           MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  And are you going
12      to speak with them?
13           MR. THERIAQUE:  Potentially during rebuttal.
14      I thought I'd just have him sworn in at this
15      juncture in case we do have him testify.
16           MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.  Come forward, if
17      you will, and state your name and address.  Go
18      ahead.
19           MS. GUTCHER:  Allara Mills Gutcher.  I am at
20      2311 Lee Street in Lynn Haven, Florida.
21           MR. HODGES:  Tom Hodges, 121 Parkway Drive,
22      Thomasville, Georgia.
23           MS. PLAYER:  Bonita Player, 1720 West
24      Fairfield Drive.
25           MS. BELL:  Jennifer Bell, 4212 Rosebud Court,

Page 8

1      to accept this as -- into evidence.  Do we have a
2      motion?
3           MS. GUND:  I'll make a motion that it be
4      accepted into evidence.
5           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Judy moves.
6                Do we have a second?
7           MR. GODWIN:  I'll second it.
8           MR. CHAIRMAN:  We have a second by --
9           MS. CRAWFORD:  Mr. Chairman, if I may.

10      Meredith Crawford, Assistant County Attorney.
11                The one caveat, I would ask to your
12      motion would be that the Land Use Compatibility
13      Analysis be accepted simply for what it is and not
14      as actual proof of compatibility.  But it can very
15      well be accepted as the document.
16           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Do the motion folks agree to
17      that?  Michael?
18           MR. GODWIN:  Yes.
19           MR. CHAIRMAN:  And Judy?
20           MS. GUND:  I made my motion.
21           MR. THERIAQUE:  May I address that, Mr.
22      Chairman?
23           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes.
24           MR. THERIAQUE:  The author of that report is
25      present.  That was Allara Mills Gutcher who was



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 9 to 12
Page 9

1      placed under oath.  It is a report.  The author is
2      present.  It's not hearsay.  The board is entitled
3      to assign whatever weight it desires to assign to
4      it.  It is competent, substantial evidence that
5      could substantiate a finding of compatibility, the
6      report alone.  But we do have the author who will
7      be testifying from the report as well.
8           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  If we have the motion,
9      any question on the motion?

10                (No response)
11                Those in favor, signify by raising your
12      right hand.
13                (The board members raise their right
14      hands.)
15                Any opposed?
16                (No response)
17                Motion passes unanimously.
18                (Exhibits 1 through 10 were received into
19      evidence.)
20           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.
21                And if I may, Mr. Chairman, just so that
22      the record is clear, while the binder has come in,
23      I would like to identify for the record what is in
24      the binder.
25                Exhibit 1 is the letter dated July 24th,

Page 11

1      lighting would be on the property.
2                Exhibit 8 is the Land Use Compatibility
3      Analysis that was prepared by Allara Mills Gutcher.
4      Again, we will ask you to accept her as an expert
5      witness when we get to that point.
6                Exhibit 9 is Ms. Gutcher's resume.
7                And Exhibit 10 is the resume of Thomas
8      Hodges.
9           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.

10           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you, sir.
11                And before I call my first witness, I
12      just would like to briefly describe what we believe
13      is at issue today.
14                If the board -- excuse me one second.  I
15      want to put up a diagram.  Thank you.
16                As you know, this is a quasi-judicial
17      proceeding.  And you're bound to base your decision
18      on competent, substantial evidence.  And your code
19      and rules are actually pretty good.  I practice
20      statewide, and I was online looking at your
21      requirements for board of adjustment proceedings.
22      You track it perfectly well.  I would like most
23      local governments to have what you have in place
24      for your quasi-judicial hearings.  You have done it
25      well.

Page 10

1      2017 from Horace Jones, Director, to Teramore
2      Development, LLC.
3                Exhibit 2 is the administrative appeal
4      filed by the property owners.
5                Tab 3 or Exhibit 3 is the administrative
6      appeal filed by Teramore Development, which is the
7      authorized agent on behalf of the owner.  We filed
8      an appeal from both entities, kind of a
9      belt-and-suspender approach to ensure that we had

10      proper jurisdiction before you, sir.
11                Four is from your Land Development Code.
12      It is the locational criteria that are at issue
13      during this proceeding.
14                Five is a preliminary site plan of the
15      property.
16                Tab 6 is a rendering with the actual
17      vegetation.  Tom Hodges will provide an explanation
18      of how this document was created.  I am an
19      attorney, so I don't provide evidence, but I will
20      just summarize that the actual vegetation on site
21      is depicted, and they hired somebody to superimpose
22      what the building would look like with the actual
23      vegetation.
24                Exhibit 7 is a lighting plan, or also
25      known as photometric plan that shows how the

Page 12

1                And I know this isn't your first rodeo,
2      but I do want to remind you that your decision
3      needs to be based on competent, substantial
4      evidence from either expert witnesses who provide
5      opinion or fact-based testimony from lay people.
6                It's not a popularity poll.  So if I have
7      300 people here that are for me or 300 people who
8      are against me, that doesn't weigh into the
9      equation today.  What weighs into your decision

10      today is that competent, substantial evidence on
11      whether or not this appeal meets the criteria that
12      is set forth in (e)(5).
13                As you know, this piece of property has a
14      future land use map designation that allows
15      commercial.  It has a zoning designation that
16      allows commercial.  And you recently -- I believe
17      it was in December or maybe November of 2016 --
18      added location criteria that changed what could be
19      allowed as-of-right on this property.
20                Prior to that change, we wouldn't be even
21      before you.  We didn't have to do a compatibility
22      analysis.  We didn't have to meet these other
23      requirements.
24                Each one of (e)(1), (e)(2), (e)(3),
25      (e)(4) and (e)(5) stand alone.  An applicant meets



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 13 to 16
Page 13

1      the location criteria if they can qualify for any
2      one of those five.  It's not conjunctive, where you
3      have to hit one and two and three and four and
4      five.
5                If an applicant meets any one of those
6      five, then they qualify for commercial on the
7      property that is designated for commercial.  And we
8      believe the evidence is going to demonstrate to you
9      today that the applicant meets documented

10      compatibility.
11                And what you will hear is how this site
12      has been proposed to be designed.  You will hear
13      the size of the property.  And you will hear that
14      in all of the Dollar Generals that our client has
15      developed in Florida, in Pensacola and in other
16      states, they have never left this amount of
17      undeveloped property.  And they did so in order to
18      try to be a good neighbor with the surrounding
19      residential uses.
20                You will also hear that a Dollar General
21      is a neighborhood commercial use.  It's not a
22      general commercial use.  And there is a
23      distinction.  Neighborhood commercial is intended,
24      from a planning perspective, to be near
25      neighborhoods.

Page 15

1 at 2311 Lee Street in Lynn Haven, Florida.
2         Q     And would you briefly describe your
3 professional background?
4         A     I'm a certified land use planner by the
5 American Institute of Certified Planners.  I have been
6 for about 15 years.  I have been in the profession
7 for about 20 years.  I have been in both the private and
8 the public sector.  I have been more recently the
9 planning manager for the City of Panama City and the

10 planning and community director for Gadsden County up
11 near Tallahassee.
12         Q     Are you A.I.C.P.?
13         A     I am A.I.C.P.
14         Q     What does it mean to be A.I.C.P.?
15         A     A.I.C.P. certification is a certification
16 that is produced through the American Planning
17 Association, which requires a certain amount of
18 training, a certain amount of education, a certain
19 amount of work experience and an exam that must be
20 passed.
21           MS. GUND:  Can I excuse you for just a moment?
22                Horace, did you have something you wanted
23      to say?
24           MR. JONES:  If you can speak louder in the
25      mic.  The volume is not the best in here, so you

Page 14

1                The reason that you have neighborhood
2      commercial is to have shorter trips, or on your way
3      home, you realize you need milk and bread.
4      So neighborhood commercial is intended to be
5      located near neighborhoods.
6                And I think what you will hear at the
7      conclusion of our evidence is that this site has
8      been well designed and will be compatible with the
9      surrounding properties.

10                And at this point, I would like to call
11      Allara Mills Gutcher.  And I have some blue forms I
12      need to turn in.
13           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.
14           MR. THERIAQUE:  Yes, sir.
15                I will actually use the mic over here,
16      and you can use this.
17 WHEREUPON,
18                   ALLARA MILLS GUTCHER
19 was called as a witness and, after having been first
20 duly sworn, testified as follows:
21                    DIRECT EXAMINATION
22 BY MR. THERIAQUE:
23         Q     Please state your name and address for the
24 record.
25         A     My name is Allara Mills Gutcher, and I'm

Page 16

1      may need to really speak directly into the mic so
2      that the people in the back can hear you clearly.
3           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.
4           MR. JONES:  Thank you.
5           THE WITNESS:  Maybe not at all.
6           MR. THERIAQUE:  We are not resting our case at
7      this point.
8 BY MR. THERIAQUE:
9         Q     Ms. Gutcher, have you ever performed a

10 compatibility analysis?
11         A     I have several times -- in fact, hundreds
12 of times in my career through any type of a zoning
13 change or a comprehensive plan map amendment, we look at
14 these issues.
15           MR. THERIAQUE:  At this time, Mr. Chairman, I
16      would like to tender Ms. Gutcher as an expert
17      witness in urban regional planning.
18           MS. CRAWFORD:  No objection by the County.
19           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.
20           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Board members, do we have a
21      motion to accept her as an expert witness?
22           MR. STROMQUIST:  So moved.
23           MR. CHAIRMAN:  We have a motion.  Do we have a
24      second?
25           MS. GUND:  Second.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 17 to 20
Page 17

1           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Moved by Bill, second by Judy.
2                Those in favor, signify by raising your
3      right hand.
4                (The board members raise their right
5      hands.)
6                Any opposed?
7                (No response)
8                Motion passes unanimously.
9           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

10 BY MR. THERIAQUE:
11         Q     Ms. Gutcher, are you here on behalf of the
12 applicant?
13         A     Yes, I am.
14         Q     What have you done in preparation for your
15 testimony today?
16         A     Yes.  I have reviewed the Escambia County
17 Comprehensive Plan.  I have reviewed the Escambia County
18 Land Development regulations.  I have reviewed the
19 Escambia County property appraiser's Web site to include
20 the aerial photographs.  I have made a site visit to the
21 property.  I have also looked at the Escambia County
22 future land use map and the zoning map.
23         Q     And have you written a report regarding
24 your analysis of the compatibility issue?
25         A     Yes, I have.

Page 19

1 The designation of MU-S on the future land use map
2 allows for the development of a commercial use.
3               Chapter 7 of the Comprehensive Plan
4 contains the future land use element.  Policy 1.3.1
5 lists the future land use categories and also describes
6 the allowable uses and overarching development
7 parameters of MU-S.  These include things like the
8 allowable uses, which is listed retail sales and
9 services, and a development parameter of 1.0 floor area

10 ratio.
11               The Escambia County Land Development
12 Regulations describe how parcels within the commercial
13 zoning district can be developed.  Section 3-2.10 of the
14 LDR states in Part A of this section that the purpose of
15 this zoning district is, quote, for general commercial
16 activities, especially the retailing of commodities and
17 services, end quote.
18               I think we can all agree that this retail
19 Dollar General store will sell commodities, or in other
20 words, goods to be public.
21               Furthermore, in this section, Part B lists
22 the permitted uses.  Part two of this subsection states
23 that retail sales are an allowable use.  Clearly, the
24 proposed commercial use is an allowable one, not a
25 conditional one, within this zoning category.

Page 18

1         Q     Is that report -- let me see.  You have a
2 hard copy, I believe.
3         A     Yes, I do.
4         Q     Let me show it to you in my tab.  Give me
5 one second just to confirm.
6               Is what is tabbed as Exhibit 8 a true and
7 correct copy of your report?
8         A     Yes, it is.
9         Q     All right.  Would you please walk through

10 your analysis for the board, please?
11         A     Yes.
12               And good morning, and thank you
13 for allowing me here today to speak to you on this
14 issue.
15               I am pleased to present with you my
16 analysis and how it relates and how it is compatible
17 with the surrounding uses and existing development.  I
18 submit to you that this site, which is zoned for
19 commercial uses on the Escambia County official zoning
20 map with the zoning designation of commercial and has
21 been designated on the future land use map as MU-S,
22 which is mixed-use suburban, can be developed
23 responsibly so that the existing pattern of development
24 and existing uses will not be adversely affected over
25 time by the development of a commercial retail store.

Page 20

1               However, Escambia County elected to
2 include location criteria in Part E of this LDR section,
3 which brings us here today.  I will document with
4 competent and substantial evidence that as a requirement
5 of Section 3-2.10(e)(5) of the Escambia County LDRs,
6 this use will achieve long-term compatibility with
7 existing uses in the area.
8               First, we must look to the definition of
9 compatibility.  The Escambia County Comprehensive Plan

10 defines compatibility as, quote:  Compatible development
11 is new development proposed to be constructed next to
12 existing development in which the proximity of the two
13 kinds of development would each complement or enhance
14 the usefulness of the other, end quote.
15               In addition, Section 163.3164(9) of the
16 Florida Statutes define compatibility as, quote:  A
17 condition in which land uses or conditions can coexist
18 in relative proximity to each other in a stable fashion
19 over time so that no use or condition is unduly
20 negatively impacted directly by another use or
21 condition, end quote.
22               And I will also note that your definition
23 section of Chapter 6 in your Escambia County LDRs
24 defines compatibility virtually identical to that in the
25 Florida Statutes.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 21 to 24
Page 21

1               So when we look at how uses are compatible
2 to each other, we look at several development
3 characteristics, such as setbacks, buffering, open space
4 ratios, hours of operation, lighting, noise, smoke,
5 glare, and building height, orientation and mass.
6               These are the characteristics I will
7 present to you this morning to show that there is
8 competent and substantial evidence that this proposed
9 development will be compatible with existing uses.

10               This project as proposed is to develop
11 approximately 9,100 square feet of retail space on about
12 three-and-a-half acres, a little less than, about 3.4
13 acres.
14               The development footprint will only take
15 1.25 acres of that or less than half.  In fact, less
16 than 40 percent of the site.  This will leave about 2.15
17 acres of native vegetation untouched by this development
18 plan.
19               In my 20-plus years experience in this
20 profession, I have never come across a developer who has
21 been willing to leave that much land on the table, not
22 even close.  This is extraordinary.
23               The height of the structure will not
24 exceed 22 feet above grade of the site.  This height is
25 similar to the height of a peaked-roof, single-family

Page 23

1 vegetation all contribute to the conditions that allow
2 this use to coexist in proximity to other uses in a
3 stable fashion over time so that this use will not
4 negatively impact others.
5               Another factor in my compatibility study
6 is how the use will operate.  Will it create excessive
7 noise?  Will it create glare to the neighbors?  Will it
8 concrete smoke?  Will it create dust?  Will the hours of
9 operation disrupt other uses?  The answers to each of

10 these questions is a resounding absolutely not.
11               This small retail use will not create any
12 noise outside of what is already created by the traffic
13 on Gulf Beach Highway.  There will be no glare.  In
14 fact, the lighting plan for this development will only
15 be installed on the building in a downward fashion which
16 is necessary for the safety of pedestrians after dark.
17               There will be no smoke or dust created as
18 a manufacturing type of use may create.  And the hours
19 of operation will be conducive to standard human
20 behavior.  They will not be any earlier than 7:00 a.m.
21 or any later than 9:00 p.m.  None of these conditions
22 will contribute to a negative impact of this use to
23 other uses in proximity over time.
24               Finally, it is important to refer to the
25 documents that have been adopted by the Board of County

Page 22

1 home, or more importantly, the trees on the site.  This
2 development will not tower above the existing tree line
3 as a highrise condominium would, office building or
4 other types of retail can.  You won't see this building
5 from the north through the trees.
6               The building orientation will be to the
7 south to Gulf Beach Highway, and access will only be via
8 Gulf Beach Highway.  No ingress or egress access will be
9 via any other street or roadway.

10               The setback area will remain primarily in
11 the natural vegetative state with exception to what is
12 necessary surrounding the building for storm water and
13 parking.  These setbacks can be found on page 12 of the
14 analysis in your books on page 12 on Table 3 and are
15 97 feet from the front property line where your LDRs
16 require 15 feet, 82 feet from the rear property line
17 where your LDRs require 15 feet, 231 feet from the west
18 side property line where your LDRs only require 10 feet
19 and 175 feet from the east property line where your LDRs
20 require, again, only 10 feet.
21               In no case are any of these setbacks less
22 than 400 percent over the required amount, and at most,
23 the setback exceeds the required amount by over
24 2000 percent.  These massive setbacks, the lower height
25 of the structure, the intent to retain 2.15 acres of

Page 24

1 Commissioners to understand if this proposal is
2 consistent with the guidance of the County's growth
3 management documents.
4               It is clear that the intent of the
5 Escambia County Comprehensive Plan is to promote new
6 infill development in already developed areas.  This is
7 an admirable intent, which helps save taxpayers money
8 through the use of existing transportation networks,
9 utility lines and governmental services.

10               The Comprehensive Plan talks about new
11 development in built areas in Policy FLU 1.5.1, which
12 says, Escambia County is, quote, to promote the
13 efficient use of existing public roads, utilities and
14 service infrastructure.  The County will encourage the
15 redevelopment in underutilized properties to maximize
16 development densities and intensities located in the
17 MU-S future land use category, end quote.
18               And, again, this site is located within
19 the MU-S future land use category.
20               I submit to you that an undeveloped parcel
21 in a largely developed area must be classified as
22 underutilized.
23               Additionally, Goal 2 of the future land
24 use element states, quote, Escambia County will promote
25 urban strategies for compact development, the efficient



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 25 to 28
Page 25

1 provision of infrastructure and urban services and the
2 protection of natural resources.  Urban strategies will
3 include infill development, mixed-use development and
4 coordinated land use and transportation planning, end
5 quote.
6               Objective FLU 2.1 furthers the directives
7 of this goal by stating, quote, direct growth towards
8 those areas where infrastructure and services exist to
9 support development at approved densities and

10 intensities, end quote.
11               Objective 2.3 speaks to directing future
12 growth into already developed areas, which is referred
13 to as infill development.  Quote, encourage infill
14 development in appropriate urbanized areas where
15 infrastructure is sufficient to meet demands, such as
16 MU-U and MU-S, end quote.  And, again, we are in a MU-S
17 future land use category.
18               So in my conclusion, not only is this
19 development compatible to surrounding uses, due to the
20 setbacks, the height of the structure, the mass of the
21 structure, the lack of noise, smoke, dust, glare, and
22 the limited hours of operation, the Board of County
23 Commissioners through the adoption of the Escambia
24 County Comprehensive Plan support this type of infill
25 development in order to enhance efficiency of the

Page 27

1           MS. CRAWFORD:  I would like to cross-examine
2      the witness, please.
3                    CROSS-EXAMINATION
4 BY MS. CRAWFORD:
5         Q     Is it Ms. Gootcher?
6         A     Gutcher.
7         Q     Gutcher.  Hi, Ms. Gutcher.
8         A     Hi.
9         Q     I'm Meredith Crawford.  I'm one of the

10 assistant county attorneys.  I work with Development
11 Services.
12           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Could you get the mic a little
13      closer?  Thank you.
14 BY MS. CRAWFORD:
15         Q     Again, my name is Meredith Crawford.  I'm
16 one of the assistant county attorneys.
17               If you will, can we just walk through your
18 compatibility analysis report?
19         A     Certainly.
20         Q     It appears that pages one and two are
21 simply your table of contents?
22         A     That is correct.
23         Q     And then on page three, you recite the
24 definition of compatibility from the Florida Statutes,
25 the Comp Plan and the LDC?

Page 26

1 provision of services, such as transportation, utilities
2 and governmental services.
3               I submit to you that this proposal can
4 coexist in a stable fashion over time with other uses in
5 the vicinity and will not negatively or adversely impact
6 the other uses directly or indirectly.
7               Thank you very much.
8         Q     Ms. Gutcher, just a couple of follow-up
9 questions.

10         A     Yes.
11         Q     Do you consider this store to be a
12 neighborhood commercial store?
13         A     I do.
14         Q     Where are neighborhood commercial stores
15 typically located?
16         A     Within a residential or neighborhood area
17 for ease of access.
18           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.
19           MR. CHAIRMAN:  May we have an opportunity to
20      see if any board would like to ask questions?
21           THE WITNESS:  Certainly.
22           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any questions of the speaker,
23      Board?
24                (No response)
25                Staff, any questions of the speaker?

Page 28

1         A     That's correct.
2         Q     And then it appears that pages four --
3 four, five, six, seven and eight through the majority of
4 page nine, you're simply reciting the site conditions,
5 the zoning, future land use photographs, things not
6 necessarily related to your compatibility analysis but
7 specific to this project?
8         A     Well, you look at these things that are
9 adopted in your documents to determine the compatibility

10 of the site in accordance to what the allowable use is
11 and what the surrounding uses are.
12         Q     We are going to walk through those code
13 provisions.
14               So on the bottom of page nine, you give
15 your opinion that the Dollar General store fulfills the
16 location criteria pursuant to Section 3-2.10(e)(5).
17         A     Yes.
18         Q     And so it's your professional opinion that
19 the way that this project meets compatibility is through
20 that documented compatibility?
21         A     Through the documented compatibility
22 analysis, yes.
23         Q     And that is what is contained in your
24 report?
25         A     That's correct.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 29 to 32
Page 29

1         Q     And did you read or review the entire code
2 for preparing this report?
3         A     I read those portions which were pertinent
4 to this development.
5         Q     Did you review Section 3-1.6?
6           THE WITNESS:  Do you have a copy of the code?
7 BY MS. CRAWFORD:
8         Q     I have a copy of the code, if you need it.
9         A     Do you have a page number so it would be

10 easier for me to find it?
11         Q     Oh, sure.  It's LDC 3:12.
12         A     So this is under Article 3, Land
13 Disturbance Activities; correct?
14           MR. JONES:  You may have to -- I can show it
15      to you, if you don't mind.
16           THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  I was on the wrong
17      page.
18 BY MS. CRAWFORD:
19         Q     Article 1, General Provisions of the Land
20 Development Code, 3-1.6.
21         A     Yes.
22         Q     If I can draw your attention to paragraph
23 A, the last sentence.  Do you agree that the code states
24 that:  Although zoning separates generally incompatible
25 development, inclusion as a permitted use within a

Page 31

1         Q     Okay.  So, again, this provision requires
2 or states that the location criteria, which is what we
3 will get to in the next section, typically are
4 for transitional stages between heavy commercial and
5 smaller uses or less intense uses?
6         A     Within some zoning districts.
7         Q     And you agree that there are no general
8 commercial uses near major street intersections in this
9 area?

10         A     There are no -- there are none within a
11 quarter-mile radius.
12         Q     Okay.  Thank you.
13               Now, in your analysis on page ten, while
14 on page nine, you cite that compatibility is based on
15 this documented compatibility, on page ten, you go into
16 your analysis, and it appears that you are citing infill
17 development as a basis for compatibility; is that
18 accurate?
19         A     I'm stating -- what I'm stating here is
20 that Escambia County promotes infill development.
21         Q     If you will turn to the location criteria
22 in the commercial district, which is 3-2.10.
23         A     Of the Comprehensive Plan?
24         Q     No.  I'm sorry.  Of the Land Development
25 Code.  And it's going to be on page 3:15.

Page 30

1 district does not alone ensure compatibility with other
2 uses?
3         A     Yes.  That's what the code says, yes.
4         Q     And so your statement that this is a
5 permitted use does not necessarily guarantee that this
6 is compatible; correct?
7         A     That's correct.
8         Q     And then if you will look on to paragraph
9 B of that same section, do you agree that this states:

10 Location criteria are established within some zoning
11 districts to promote compatibility among uses,
12 especially new nonresidential uses in relation to
13 existing residential uses.  Most criteria are designed
14 to create smooth transitions of use intensity from the
15 large-scale concentrations of general commericial uses
16 near major street intersections to small-scale dispersed
17 neighborhood commercial uses in proximity to residential
18 areas?  Is that an accurate --
19         A     That is what the version I have states,
20 yes.
21         Q     And in your analysis, you note that there
22 are no large concentrations or it appears there are no
23 large concentrations of general commercial uses near
24 this site; is that correct?
25         A     Not adjacent to the site.

Page 32

1         A     What was the citation?
2         Q     3-2.10(e).  It also, I believe, is in
3 your --
4         A     Yes.
5         Q     -- notebook.
6               Now, these location criteria are the
7 criteria necessary to create new commercial development
8 that is not part of a planned unit development and is
9 not identified --

10         A     May I have a moment?
11         Q     Sure.
12         A     I'm trying to refer back to the section
13 that lies under -- you are referring to Part F?
14         Q     No.  I'm referring to --
15         A     To Part E, which is under --
16         Q     Commercial zoning district.
17         A     That's what I'm trying to go to.  Section
18 3-2.10?
19         Q     Yes, ma'am.  I believe it's number four in
20 your tabbed binder.
21         A     Yes, I found it.
22         Q     Now, in order for your development to be
23 compatible in this location, you agree that one of these
24 locational criteria must be met?
25         A     Yes.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 33 to 36
Page 33

1         Q     So when we look at number one, proximity
2 to an intersection, you agree that you're not within
3 one-quarter mile of the intersection --
4         A     We agree.
5         Q     -- with an arterial street?  Okay.
6               Number two, do you also agree you're not
7 within one-quarter mile radius of an individual traffic
8 generator of more than 600 daily trips?
9         A     We agree.

10         Q     Okay.  I'm going to skip number three
11 because that is one you touched on and go down to number
12 four.
13               Do you also agree that number four site
14 design, that you do not meet that criteria?
15         A     Yes.
16         Q     Okay.  Now, if we go back up to infill
17 development, do you agree that the definition requires
18 in this provision that infill development is along an
19 arterial or collector street, but it must be in an area
20 where already established non-residential uses are
21 otherwise consistent with a commercial district and
22 where the new use would constitute infill development of
23 a similar intensity as the conforming development on
24 surrounding parcels?  Do you agree that is the code
25 provision?

Page 35

1 commercial district.
2         Q     And so this would be the provision
3 controlling infill development in the commercial
4 district; correct?  That's why it would be in the code
5 in this place?
6         A     However, the comprehensive plan policies
7 that I cited were specific to broader issues of infill
8 development, not necessarily specific to commercial
9 district Part E, Part 3 infill development.

10         Q     Do you agree that the County puts forth
11 infill development as a principle and yet has certain
12 protections to keep the infill development from
13 unnecessarily encroaching upon, as in this case,
14 residential development?
15         A     I do.
16         Q     So if you go down to documented
17 compatibility, which is number five, and, again, that is
18 what you cite as the basis for your finding of
19 compatibility, as the documented compatibility analysis?
20         A     Yes, I was -- yes.
21         Q     And do you agree that in order to meet the
22 criteria of documented compatibility, you must show
23 evidence of unique circumstances regarding the potential
24 uses of a parcel that were not anticipated by the
25 alternative criteria?

Page 34

1         A     That's what my version says.
2         Q     And do you agree that this area, there is
3 not an already established non-residential use, that
4 this is a residential area?
5         A     I will concur that this site has a zoning
6 designation for commercial and that the MU-U -- MU-S
7 category allows for commercial uses.
8         Q     And the surrounding parcels are all
9 residential; correct?

10         A     They are developed residentially within
11 the MU --
12         Q     They are zoned residential?
13         A     -- S future land use category.
14         Q     And the zoning is either low-density
15 residential or high-density residential on the
16 surrounding parcels?
17         A     Yes.
18         Q     Thank you.
19               So given that infill development has to be
20 in an area where already established non-residential
21 uses are otherwise consistent with commericial, that
22 would not apply?
23         A     I don't know that I would agree with you
24 that this is definition of infill development.  This is
25 an example of what this paragraph is citing regarding

Page 36

1         A     Yes.
2         Q     And in this case, in your documented
3 compatibility analysis, you cite infill development?
4         A     I cite that this site is a development
5 that is currently undeveloped and could be considered
6 infill because there is a large developed area
7 surrounding it.
8         Q     And do you agree that infill development
9 is considered in the alternative criteria in criteria

10 number three?
11         A     Yes, I do.
12         Q     And so infill development would not be a
13 basis for documented compatibility since it is also
14 considered in the alternative criteria, and in order to
15 meet the documented compatibility, it must be something
16 that is not anticipated by the alternative criteria;
17 correct?
18         A     So -- can you rephrase your question,
19 please, because I think --
20         Q     Sure.
21         A     Go ahead.
22         Q     Okay.  So in order to meet documented
23 compatibility, criteria number five --
24         A     Yes.
25         Q     -- the applicant must show evidence of



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 37 to 40
Page 37

1 unique circumstances regarding the potential uses of the
2 parcel that were not anticipated by the alternative
3 criteria?  I believe that is the first sentence.
4         A     That's correct.
5         Q     Infill development is contemplated and
6 anticipated by number three in the locational criteria;
7 correct?
8         A     Correct.
9         Q     Okay.  Now, if you will go with me to --

10 let's go back to Section 3-1.6, please.
11         A     Okay.
12         Q     You mentioned buffering as part of the
13 applicant's ability to become compatible with the area;
14 correct?
15         A     Correct.
16         Q     If you look at 3-1.6, paragraph C, other
17 measures, do you agree that it reads:  In addition to
18 the location criteria of the zoning district,
19 landscaping, buffering and screening may be required to
20 protect lower intensity uses for more intensive uses; is
21 that correct?
22         A     That's what it states.
23         Q     So this states in addition to location
24 criteria, not in lieu of location criteria?
25         A     Yes.  That's what it states.

Page 39

1 criteria," not "instead of the location criteria"?
2         A     Correct.
3         Q     So in order to be compatible, you still
4 must meet the location criteria, and compatibility
5 cannot be established by buffering alone since it is in
6 addition to the location criteria per our code; correct?
7         A     So when I go back to section -- I have to
8 go back several pages -- 3-2.10, and I go to Part E, the
9 location criteria there states that -- in the last

10 portion of that sentence -- "The district shall be on
11 parcels that satisfy at least one of the following
12 location criteria."
13               So the one location criteria that we are
14 using is the compatibility analysis.
15         Q     And in your --
16         A     Not one, not two, not three, not four
17 which has to do with the proximity to certain things.
18 It's Part 5, the documented compatibility, which is the
19 analysis that I provided to you.
20         Q     And yet, in your analysis, you cite infill
21 development as part of that documented compatibility?
22         A     I am citing that as a general
23 Comprehensive Plan guideline that the County
24 Commissioners have adopted to support infill
25 development.

Page 38

1         Q     So buffering would not be sufficient on
2 its own?  You would also have to meet the location
3 criteria before you're compatible; correct?
4         A     So, again, we're going back to Section
5 3-1.6, Compatibility, Part B, location criteria.
6 Location criteria are established within some zoning
7 districts.  And then what you're citing is underneath
8 that Part B location criteria.
9         Q     Actually, C, ma'am.  I'm sorry.  C, other

10 measures.
11         A     Okay.  I'm sorry.
12               Can you repeat your question?
13         Q     Yes, ma'am.
14               C, other measures under the general
15 compatibility provision in the code --
16         A     Yes.
17         Q     -- which is 3-1.6, it reads:  "In addition
18 to the location criteria of the zoning districts,
19 landscaping, buffering and screening may be required to
20 protect lower intensity uses from more intensive uses."
21 And then it goes on to describe, such as residential
22 from commercial and commercial from industrial.  Do you
23 agree that's --
24         A     That's what my version states.
25         Q     And it states "in addition to the location

Page 40

1         Q     And, if you will, turn with me to Section
2 1-1.11 entitled "Rules for Understanding LDC
3 Provisions."
4         A     Do you have a page number?
5         Q     I do.  Mine is LDC 1:6.  It's pretty close
6 to the beginning, only three pages in.
7         A     And what was that section number again?
8         Q     1-1.11, Rules for Understanding LDC
9 Provisions.

10         A     Okay.
11         Q     And if you will look at paragraph D,
12 Particular and General, which states:  "A particular
13 intent expressed in the LDC has authority over a general
14 one, such that when there is a more specific
15 requirement, it must be followed in place of a more
16 general one, regardless of whether the general
17 requirement is more lenient or in conflict with the
18 specific one."
19         A     That's what my version says.
20         Q     And the infill development would be a
21 general requirement of the County, and the specifics
22 would be in this section?
23         A     Correct.  But, also, the Comprehensive
24 Plan rules over any land development regulation.
25         Q     And, again, the Comp Plan, the County may



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 41 to 44
Page 41

1 support generally infill development and, yet, restrict
2 it in certain zoning categories as deemed necessary by
3 the governing body; correct?
4         A     Correct.  But I haven't identified which
5 zoning category that would apply to because your code
6 says "some zoning categories."
7         Q     And in the commercial zoning category, it
8 is listed and included; correct?
9         A     Can you point to that?

10         Q     Sure.  It's 3-2.10, the location criteria
11 we have been discussing.
12         A     Absolutely.  I'm flipping through so many
13 pages.  Could you help me with that, please?
14         Q     I apologize.  Sure.  In mine, it's 3:50.
15 I believe this is tab four in your notebook.
16         A     I don't have a notebook.  So I'm referring
17 to the --
18         Q     I'm sorry.  You can have mine.
19         A     Yes.  Thank you.
20               So location criteria, Part E.  And again?
21           MR. JONES:  3-2.10.
22           THE WITNESS:  Yes, I'm on that page, 3,
23      semicolon, 50 -- 3:50.
24 BY MS. CRAWFORD:
25         Q     Yes.  And, again, this is the location

Page 43

1         A     Correct.
2         Q     You also cite FLU 2, which is infill
3 development.  Objective 2.1 is just urban development.
4 And then you have 2.3, again, infill development.  And
5 those are the bases for your opinion; correct?
6         A     These are in support of my opinion.
7         Q     And they are included in the section of
8 your opinion entitled "Analysis," where you would weigh
9 the factors and the code and advise the Board of

10 Adjustment as to your position?
11         A     That's correct.
12         Q     And in here, those are the provisions you
13 cite?
14         A     Yes.
15           MS. CRAWFORD:  I believe those are my
16      questions of this witness.
17           MR. THERIAQUE:  Mr. Chairman, I have a couple
18      of brief follow-up.
19           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Sure.
20           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you, sir.
21                   REDIRECT EXAMINATION
22 BY MR. THERIAQUE:
23         Q     Ms. Gutcher, just so the record is clear,
24 your determination that this project meets number (e)(5)
25 on LDC 3-2.10 is not based upon (e)(3); correct?

Page 42

1 criteria, which is included in the --
2         A     Yes, I'm there.
3         Q     -- commercial zoning district.  So the
4 commercial zoning district includes locational criteria?
5         A     It does.
6               And I -- we recognize that we do not meet
7 location criteria one, two, three or four.
8         Q     So it's your position that you have shown
9 unique circumstances that are not otherwise anticipated

10 by the criteria?
11         A     Yes.
12         Q     And those unique circumstances are
13 outlined in your analysis?
14         A     Well, I think one of the unique
15 circumstances is the allowable uses in the commercial
16 and the mixed use-S category that allow for commercial
17 development but somehow not on this parcel that is zoned
18 commercially.
19         Q     And you agree that simply because of uses
20 permitted, it's not automatically compatible?
21         A     Because of uses permitted, it is not
22 automatically compatible.  I do agree with that.
23         Q     And in your analysis, you cite Comp Plan
24 policy regarding new development in built areas, which
25 is FLU 1.5.1?

Page 44

1         A     That is correct.
2         Q     And, in fact, when you refer to the
3 infill, you were just discussing infill as a concept,
4 not a vocational criterion; is that correct?
5         A     That's correct.
6         Q     How many acres, again, is this property?
7         A     3.4.
8         Q     And how many acres are undeveloped?
9         A     2.15.

10         Q     Would you say that leaving two-plus acres
11 out of a three-acre parcel was exceptional?
12         A     I agree with that, yes.
13         Q     Would you consider leaving over two acres
14 untouched on a three-acre parcel to be a unique
15 circumstance?
16         A     I will say that is true.  And I have never
17 come across that in my 20-plus years as a land use
18 planner.
19         Q     And in your report, if you can help me
20 find it again, I believe you have the setbacks.  Was it
21 page --
22         A     It's page 12.
23         Q     Page 12.  Thank you.  And you indicated in
24 Table 3 the setback comparison.  Do you see that?
25         A     I do.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 45 to 48
Page 45

1         Q     And you indicated that there was a 15-foot
2 setback for the front and that this property was
3 providing 97 feet?
4         A     That's correct.
5         Q     And that it exceeded the requirement by
6 547 percent?
7         A     That is correct.
8         Q     Do you think the locational criteria
9 contemplated an applicant submitting an application that

10 exceeded the front setback by 547 percent?
11         A     I do not.
12         Q     Do you consider that to be a unique
13 circumstance?
14         A     I do.
15         Q     The rear was 15 feet required by the code,
16 and I believe you said that the rear here has 82 feet to
17 exceed by 447 percent; is that correct?
18         A     That's correct.
19         Q     Do you consider that to be an exceptional
20 setback?
21         A     I do.
22         Q     Do you consider that to be unique for this
23 property?
24         A     I do.
25         Q     Do you believe the code contemplated a

Page 47

1         A     I do.
2         Q     Would you consider that all of the side
3 setbacks and the rear setback and the front setback are
4 exceptional setbacks?
5         A     I do consider them exceptional, yes.
6         Q     And have you ever seen a property owner
7 that had a three-acre plus or minus parcel offer to not
8 develop more than two-thirds of the property of the
9 developed property?

10         A     Not only that, but I have never seen a
11 developer not clear the property for ease of visibility
12 on a site like this.
13           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.  No more questions.
14           MS. CRAWFORD:  If I may have a quick
15      follow-up.
16                   RECROSS-EXAMINATION
17 BY MS. CRAWFORD:
18         Q     Ms. Goocher -- Gutcher --
19         A     Gutcher.
20         Q     Gutcher.  I'm so sorry.
21               Do you agree that the setbacks you just
22 described with Mr. Theriaque are performance standards
23 and not locational criteria?
24         A     They are not locational criteria.
25         Q     And would you agree that on any number of

Page 46

1 property owner offering to exceed the rear setback by
2 447 percent?
3         A     I do not.  I do not think -- I think that
4 is excessive, and I think that is something that most
5 developers, if not all developers, would not do.
6         Q     Would that be a unique circumstance?
7         A     It would.
8         Q     Then on Table 3, you refer to the side
9 setback of ten feet and that there are 231 feet at the

10 rear corner exceeding the County's regulations by 2,2l0
11 percent?
12         A     That is correct.
13         Q     Do you consider that to be a unique
14 circumstance that a property owner would exceed the
15 setback requirement by 2,210 percent?
16         A     I do.
17         Q     And on the side, the code requires ten
18 feet.  I believe your table states that the applicant
19 here is providing 175 feet and that the applicant is
20 proposing to exceed the County's regulations by 1,650
21 percent; is that correct?
22         A     That's correct.
23         Q     Do you consider exceeding the side setback
24 by 1,650 percent to be a unique circumstance not
25 contemplated by locational criteria?

Page 48

1 occasions there are property owners who do not fully
2 develop the entire parcel and leave vacant acreage?
3         A     I will concur that when a developer has
4 excessive amounts of property that are not part of the
5 development plan, those are usually lands that are held
6 for future sale or future development.
7         Q     And that may be with your clients, but, in
8 general, there are parcels throughout counties that are
9 only partially developed and leave vacant acreage?

10         A     I agree that in my 20-years plus of
11 planning that those parcels are usually reserved
12 for future sale or future development.
13         Q     And there is no requirement that that be
14 the case?
15         A     Are you asking me if there is a
16 requirement to leave those in vacant state?
17         Q     Do you agree with me --
18         A     Correct.  That would be correct.
19           MS. CRAWFORD:  Thank you.  I believe those are
20      my questions.
21           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Let's see if the board has any
22      questions of your speaker.  And if you have no
23      objection, I believe it would be beneficial if -- I
24      know you have other witnesses and speakers.  I
25      think it would be beneficial to the board members



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 49 to 52
Page 49

1      if we went ahead and got the staff presentation
2      presented to us.  Do you have any objection to
3      that?
4           MR. THERIAQUE:  No objection, Mr. Chairman.
5           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.
6           MR. THERIAQUE:  As long as I still retain the
7      right to call my remaining witnesses.
8           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes, sir.
9           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.

10           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Board members, any questions of
11      the applicant speaker?
12           MR. GODWIN:  Mr. Chairman, I have one.
13                The property you said, if I recall
14      correctly, it was two-plus acres that are going to
15      be remaining in its present state or something like
16      that?
17           THE WITNESS:  That is correct.
18           MR. GODWIN:  Would it be possible later on
19      for that property to be developed?
20           THE WITNESS:  I will let the developer answer
21      that question.  That would be up to -- I think he
22      would better answer that.
23           MR. GODWIN:  Well, just in theory, would that
24      be possible?
25           THE WITNESS:  It depends on the type of

Page 51

1                We currently hold a lease with Dollar
2      General.  It's a 15-year triple-net lease with four
3      five-year options.  Inside of that lease,
4      obviously, there are many exhibits.  And one of
5      those is going to be this surveyed property.
6                So this 3.45 acres is actually going to
7      be the demised premises in the lease, and the lease
8      does not allow for any future development while the
9      Dollar General is on the property.  So there will

10      be no opportunity to develop this other property,
11      the remaining buffering property, while the Dollar
12      General is in place.
13           MR. GODWIN:  And how long is the lease?
14           MR. HODGES:  A 15-year initial term with four
15      five-year options at the end of that 15-year term.
16           MR. GODWIN:  Are those negotiated or
17      automatic?
18           MR. HODGES:  They are automatically available
19      to Dollar General.  They can -- at the end of 15
20      years, they can decide to relocate or continue to
21      operate the store after 15 years.
22           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.
23           MR. HODGES:  Thank you.
24           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Again, if there is no
25      objection, we will have staff make their

Page 50

1      development, the setbacks if they can meet them.
2      It depends on whether or not FDOT will issue a
3      driveway permit that close to this development.
4      There are a number of factors.
5                And they are centering, as you can see,
6      in the center of the site, so that doesn't really
7      leave a whole lot of room on either side for
8      another -- I would be more concerned if they were
9      either on one-half or the other, but they are dead

10      center.
11           MR. THERIAQUE:  Mr. Chairman, on that
12      particular issue, Tom Hodges is the developer.
13      Perhaps he could answer that question, if that
14      would be appropriate.
15           MR. CHAIRMAN:  That would be great.  Thank
16      you.
17           MR. THERIAQUE:  Mr. Hodges.  Mr. Hodges,
18      please identify yourself for the record and your
19      position.
20           MR. HODGES:  Tom Hodges, vice president of
21      operations, Teramore Development.  Do you need my
22      address again?
23           MR. THERIAQUE:  Please.
24           MR. HODGES:  121 Parkway Drive, Thomasville,
25      Georgia.

Page 52

1      presentation, and you will have a chance to have
2      your witnesses later if that is okay.
3           MR. THERIAQUE:  Yes, sir.
4           MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right, staff.
5 WHEREUPON,
6                      ANDREW HOLMER
7 was called as a witness and, after having been first
8 duly sworn, testified as follows:
9           MR. HOLMER:  I'm Andrew Holmer, again, with

10      Development Services.  I'm going to go through the
11      maps on the site just to kind of orient everybody
12      and show everybody where we are.
13                This is our location map showing where
14      it's located along Gulf Beach Highway.  This is a
15      500-foot radius map showing the zoning on site is
16      commercial.  To the south, you see low density
17      residential and to the north, high density
18      residential.  That black line is the 500-foot
19      radius.
20                Future land use on site and throughout
21      that whole area is mixed-use suburban.
22                This is an aerial map of the site.  As
23      you can see, it's currently undeveloped.  You have
24      single-family residential uses everywhere around
25      that.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 53 to 56
Page 53

1                The public hearing sign posted on site.
2      We are getting new signs.  Yeah.  I should have --
3      they have longer legs on them.  I will tell
4      everyone in the audience who may have had concerns
5      about that, those little metal legs do not do so
6      well in high winds and sand.
7                So this is looking north at the site.
8      From where the sign was posted, as you can see,
9      like I said, it's an undeveloped vegetative site.

10                And looking east along Gulf Beach
11      Highway, you can see the sidewalk and right-of-way
12      there.  It's on the north side of Gulf Beach.
13                This is a map showing on the inner circle
14      is a quarter-mile buffer.  The outer circle is a
15      half-mile buffer.  These are both referred to in
16      the locational criteria for commercial zoning.
17                This is the zoning within those two
18      buffers of a quarter mile and half mile.  As I do
19      for you-all with various appeal hearings, I do put
20      the code sections up there.  The speakers are using
21      actual copies of the code.
22                If you can skip down a bit more.
23                And here is, as I put up there, the
24      appeal criteria, a definition from the state on --
25      from the statutes on arbitrary and capricious and

Page 55

1         Q     And that is outside of the half mile?
2         A     Yes, ma'am.
3           MS. CRAWFORD:  Those are my questions.
4           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Board members, any questions of
5      staff or staff counsel?
6                (No response)
7                Applicant, any questions of staff?
8           MR. THERIAQUE:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
9                    CROSS-EXAMINATION

10 BY MR. THERIAQUE:
11         Q     Good morning, Mr. Holmer.
12         A     Good morning.
13         Q     How are you today?
14         A     Hanging in.
15         Q     Hanging in, I got you.
16               Under the commercial designation, would
17 residential be allowed?
18         A     Yes.  This commercial zoning designation
19 is within MU-S, so residential is allowed.
20         Q     And do you know what that density would
21 be?
22         A     Can I have a second to pull it up for you?
23         Q     Yes, please.
24               Is it 25 dwelling units to the acre?
25         A     Maximum density of 25 dwelling units per

Page 54

1      the criteria for everyone in the public to speak
2      to.  We will put these back up when we get to
3      public speakers just to help folks out.
4           MS. CRAWFORD:  I just have one or maybe two
5      questions for you.
6                   DIRECT EXAMINATION
7 BY MS. CRAWFORD:
8         Q     Gulf Beach Highway, is that a collector
9 road?

10         A     Yes.  I put that on the map legend.  You
11 can see by the dark blue color.  Sorry it doesn't come
12 up so well on our equipment that we currently have.
13               Once again, like our wonderful microphone
14 here, we are getting an upgrade in equipment, folks,
15 next month.
16               Yes, Gulf Beach Highway is what is
17 classified as a major collector road.
18         Q     And within that quarter-mile and half-mile
19 radius, is there the necessary intersection as required
20 by, I guess, locational criteria one, two and four?
21         A     The only intersections with that major
22 collector are local roads.  Within the quarter mile,
23 within the half mile, the nearest intersection with
24 anything other than a local road is where Bauer Road
25 connects off to the west.

Page 56

1 acre throughout the district.
2         Q     And is there a maximum height requirement
3 on this property of 150 feet?
4         A     I do believe so.  Let me read that.
5 Maximum height, maximum structure height, 150 feet above
6 adjacent grade.  Now, this is near the base.  It's
7 within an AIPD 2.  That's Airfield Influence Planning
8 District 2.
9               The Navy does comment on our development

10 review projects anywhere within the AIPDs.  The AIPD 2,
11 however, does not have the stringent performance
12 standards you would find within the AIPD 1 and Accident
13 Potential Zones.  So the height is regulated by the
14 zoning.  Once again, at development review, I'm sure we
15 would have input from the Navy.
16         Q     And would the residential development at
17 25 units per acre be as-of-right, or is there some type
18 of conditional use that is required?
19         A     25 units per acre is as-of-right.  In
20 addition, mixed-use suburban has that same 25 units per
21 acre.
22         Q     And would the 150-foot height limitation
23 also be as-of-right?
24         A     Do you mean regarding the Comp Plan or --
25         Q     If I came in on this property for a



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 57 to 60
Page 57

1 residential project at 25 dwelling units to the acre,
2 would I be allowed as-of-right to have a 150-foot high
3 structure?
4         A     As established by the zoning.
5         Q     Is that a yes?
6         A     Yes, sir.
7         Q     And this property is approximately
8 three-plus acres.  I think it's 3.4.
9         A     I believe the property appraiser says is

10 2.96.
11         Q     It's surveyed at 3.45.
12         A     I will go with the survey.
13         Q     I got it.
14               And if I wanted to calculate maximum
15 density, I would multiply the 3.45 times 25; is that
16 correct?
17         A     That will give you your maximum allowable
18 density, not guaranteed.
19         Q     Correct.
20               So we are looking at somewhere around
21 potentially 75 to 80 dwelling units per acre -- or
22 excuse me -- for the project, not per acre?
23         A     Yes, sir.  Obviously, depending on site
24 conditions and other factors.
25         Q     And if a residential project at 150 feet

Page 59

1         Q     Mr. Jones, will you state for me your name
2 and occupation?
3         A     My name is Horace Jones.  I'm the director
4 of the Development Service Department of Escambia
5 County, Florida.
6         Q     And how long have you been with the
7 County?
8         A     I have been with the County a long time,
9 for approximately 17 years and counting for retirement.

10         Q     In that 17 years, have you been in
11 Planning and Zoning?
12         A     Yes.
13         Q     Okay.  As the Director of Planning and
14 Zoning, are you authorized by the code in Section 2-2.7
15 to confirm land uses development activities and review
16 for compatibility?
17         A     Yes.
18         Q     And when you review for compatibility, do
19 you give an official opinion?
20         A     Yes.
21         Q     And a compatibility determination?
22         A     Yes.
23         Q     And did you give a compatibility
24 determination in this case?
25         A     Yes, I did.

Page 58

1 were built with 85 units, would you believe that there
2 would be more of a loss of privacy for the surrounding
3 residential than what would be -- or what would occur
4 with a 9,100-square-foot Dollar General with a height of
5 22 feet?
6         A     I can't say to the loss of privacy.  I
7 would tell you that is a lot of density on the site in
8 relation to the surrounding areas.
9           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.

10                I have no other questions.
11           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Board members, any questions of
12      staff?
13                (No response)
14                I know the applicant has more witnesses.
15      What I'm going to do is call on opposition.
16           MS. CRAWFORD:  Mr. Chairman, I have an
17      additional witness for the County.  I apologize.
18           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Go ahead.
19           MS. CRAWFORD:  I would call Horace Jones.
20 WHEREUPON,
21                       HORACE JONES
22 was called as a witness and, after having been first
23 duly sworn, testified as follows:
24                    DIRECT EXAMINATION
25 BY MS. CRAWFORD:

Page 60

1         Q     And what was your determination?
2         A     My determination was that it did not --
3 the proposed use, commercial use, did not meet the
4 compatibility analysis as outlined in the Land
5 Development Code of Escambia County.
6         Q     Okay.  And we're going to walk through
7 that.
8               The application in this case, was it a
9 full site plan, DRC application, or was it simply to

10 review for compatibility?
11         A     In this process, it was simply to review
12 for compatibility.
13         Q     So if this outcome is favorable to the
14 applicant, they would still need to go through the full
15 site plan review --
16         A     Yes.
17         Q     -- just so we are clear where we are at
18 this stage?
19         A     Yes.
20         Q     In making your determination, did you
21 review the compatibility analysis supplied by Teramore
22 Development and Ms. Gutcher?
23         A     Yes, I did.
24         Q     And do you agree generally with their
25 recitation of the definition of compatible as well as



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 61 to 64
Page 61

1 the factors related to this specific cite and pages, I
2 believe, three through about the end of nine?
3         A     Yes.
4         Q     And yet, you disagree that the Dollar
5 General meets the documented compatibility?
6         A     Yes, I do disagree.
7         Q     What are the surrounding existing uses in
8 this area?
9         A     Based upon -- based upon my analysis, it

10 is established, existing, residential neighborhoods.
11         Q     And are there any commercial developments
12 in this area?
13         A     According to my review, it's not.
14         Q     When you review compatibility and when you
15 specifically reviewed this project, do you use the
16 criteria located under 3-2.10(e)?
17         A     Yes.
18         Q     And do you agree that this property does
19 not meet criteria one, two and four as conceded by the
20 applicant?
21         A     I do agree.
22         Q     As to number three, the applicant also
23 concedes they do not meet infill development.  Would you
24 agree that this is not infill development?
25         A     This is not infill development.

Page 63

1 meet number three?
2         A     It does not meet number three.
3         Q     Now, you have heard and reviewed the
4 compatibility analysis by the applicant?
5         A     Yes, I did.
6         Q     And it's their position that they meet
7 number five, documented compatibility?
8         A     Based upon -- based upon my position after
9 review of the Land Development Code, it does not meet

10 five.
11         Q     And would you agree that leaving empty
12 space on a development is not a unique circumstance?
13         A     No, it's not.
14         Q     And does that commonly occur where someone
15 develops a portion of their property and perhaps leaves
16 several acres vacant?
17         A     Definitely.
18         Q     And would you agree that the majority of
19 the applicant's compatibility analysis focused on infill
20 development?
21         A     Yes, it did.
22         Q     And I believe three of the four Comp Plan
23 provisions cited -- cite directly to infill development
24 with one only citing general growth?
25         A     I do agree with that.

Page 62

1         Q     And can you tell the board why this is not
2 infill development based on criterion three?
3         A     Yes.  Based upon -- based upon the zoning
4 district for commercial, which is 3-2.10, it states
5 that, the specific performance.  It says, "Along an
6 arterial or collector street in an area where already
7 established non-residential uses are otherwise
8 consistent with a commercial district and where the new
9 use would constitute infill development of a similar

10 intensity as the conforming development on surrounding
11 parcels."
12               Basically, there are no other
13 non-residential uses in the immediate vicinity or
14 proximity to the proposed location.  So, therefore,
15 based upon the terms of three, it does not meet infill
16 development.
17         Q     And further in three, would you agree that
18 a Dollar General is not of similar intensity as other
19 developments on surrounding parcels, which are HDR and
20 LDR?
21         A     I do agree with that.
22         Q     And would the Dollar General be more
23 intense?
24         A     Yes.
25         Q     So you're in agreement that it does not

Page 64

1         Q     Outside of infill development, are you
2 aware of any unique -- or I'm sorry -- outside of the
3 empty acreage, are you aware of any other alleged unique
4 circumstances related to this parcel?
5         A     No, I'm not.
6         Q     And is it your professional opinion that
7 this proposed development would not achieve long-term
8 compatibility with the existing and potential uses and
9 would serve to create an incompatible area within the

10 County?
11         A     I do agree with that.
12         Q     Now, in this case, were you provided an
13 application for a highrise, 85-unit apartment complex?
14         A     No.
15         Q     So have you done any professional review
16 as to whether or not someone could put 85 apartments in
17 a highrise on that parcel?
18         A     No.
19         Q     Give me one second, please.
20               If I could just walk you through some of
21 the code provisions we discussed earlier.  When you look
22 at compatibility in 3-1.6, do you agree that even if a
23 use is allowed in zoning, it's not automatically
24 compatible?
25         A     I do agree with that.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 65 to 68
Page 65

1         Q     And while this use is allowed in this
2 zoning and future land use category, it's still your
3 professional opinion that it's not compatible?
4         A     I do agree that it's not compatible.
5         Q     And that is based on its inability to meet
6 those five criteria, or any one of those five criteria?
7         A     Yes.
8         Q     And do you agree that the code designates
9 location criteria and states:  "They're designed to

10 create smooth transitions of use intensity from
11 large-scale concentrations of general commericial uses
12 near major street intersections to small-scale dispersed
13 neighborhood commercial uses in proximity to residential
14 areas"?
15         A     I do agree with that.
16         Q     And have you heard this morning the
17 applicant refer to their development as a neighborhood
18 commercial use?
19         A     I did hear it this morning.
20         Q     And does the code state that location
21 criteria is to transition between large concentrations
22 of commercial use to those smaller neighborhood
23 commercial uses?
24         A     No, it does not.
25         Q     Does -- let me restate the question.  I

Page 67

1 criteria, but it does not take the place of?
2         A     I agree that it's in addition to.
3         Q     And then, finally, I believe --
4           MR. THERIAQUE:  I'm sorry.  I need to
5      interrupt for one second.  When you said B and C,
6      what page were you on, please?
7           MS. CRAWFORD:  I was on -- let's see.  I'm
8      sorry.  I forget.  It was 3-1.6(b) and (c).  And in
9      my code, it's LDC 3:12 and 3:13.

10           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.
11 BY MS. CRAWFORD:
12         Q     And did you provide the applicant with a
13 written opinion of your compatibility analysis?
14         A     Yes, I did.
15         Q     And in that opinion, do you cite their
16 failure to meet each specific locational criteria as
17 your basis for the denial --
18         A     Yes.
19         Q     -- for lack of compatibility?
20         A     Yes.
21         Q     And was your review based on your years of
22 experience in planning and zoning?
23         A     Yes.
24         Q     And was it based on your interpretation as
25 the planning official of the Land Development Code?

Page 66

1 think you may have misunderstood.
2               In paragraph B, does it state:  "These
3 location criteria are designed to create smooth
4 transition of use intensity from large-scale
5 concentrations of general commercial uses near major
6 street intersections to small-scale dispersed
7 neighborhood commercial uses in proximity to residential
8 areas"?
9         A     I do agree with that.

10         Q     And you agree that they have classified
11 themselves as a neighborhood commercial use?
12         A     Yes.
13         Q     Based on this provision, is it your
14 opinion that the location criteria included in the
15 commercial category are to transition between the
16 large-scale commercial use to the neighborhood
17 commercial and not between a residential use to
18 neighborhood commercial?
19         A     I do agree with that.
20         Q     And so based on the definition of location
21 criteria, the premise alone would not meet that?
22         A     It would not meet it.
23         Q     And, again, the same section, paragraph C,
24 would you agree that buffering, screening and
25 landscaping may be used in addition to location

Page 68

1         A     Yes.
2         Q     And is that authority that has been given
3 to you by the Board of County Commissioners?
4         A     Yes, they have.
5         Q     Through the County Administrator?
6         A     Yes.
7         Q     And has anything you heard here this
8 morning from the planner for the developer changed your
9 opinion about the compatibility of this proposed

10 development?
11         A     No, it has not.
12         Q     So it remains your opinion that it is not
13 compatible?
14         A     It remains my opinion that it is not
15 compatible.
16           MS. CRAWFORD:  Those are my questions.
17           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Board members, any questions of
18      Mr. Jones?
19                (No response)
20           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Applicant?
21           MR. THERIAQUE:  Yes, sir.
22                    CROSS-EXAMINATION
23 BY MR. THERIAQUE:
24         Q     Good morning, Mr. Jones.
25         A     Good morning, sir.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 69 to 72
Page 69

1         Q     Could you turn to LDC 3:12?  It's 3-1.6,
2 compatibility language.
3         A     Yes, sir.
4         Q     And do you see paragraph B?
5         A     I believe yes, I do.
6         Q     Would you read the second sentence that
7 begins "most criteria"?
8         A     It says -- reading 3-1.6(b), "Most
9 criteria are designed to create smooth transitions of

10 use intensity from large-scale concentrations of general
11 commericial uses near major street intersections to
12 small-scale dispersed neighborhood commercial uses in
13 proximity to residential areas."
14         Q     Thank you.
15               It doesn't say all criteria; correct?
16         A     It says most.
17         Q     So that would mean some of the criteria
18 are not designed to address a smooth transition from
19 large-scale concentrations of general commercial to
20 small-scale dispersed neighborhood commercial uses;
21 isn't that true?
22         A     It says most.
23         Q     Right.  So some would not?
24         A     Yes, sir.
25         Q     Thank you.

Page 71

1 that the factors that we looked at for compatibility are
2 mass and bulk; is that correct?
3         A     It's not in the code.
4         Q     It's not in the code?
5         A     Yes, sir.  That's not when I reviewed.
6         Q     Tell me where in the code that you're
7 referring to, sir.
8         A     I'm referring to the zoning district under
9 commercial zoning district, 3-2.10(e).

10         Q     Isn't there a definition of compatibility
11 in the code?
12         A     There is a definition of compatibility in
13 the code, yes, sir.
14         Q     As a planner -- let me back up for a
15 second.
16               (e)(5) doesn't address what compatibility
17 is; correct?  It just states you have to be compatible.
18         A     No, it does not specifically state what
19 the definition -- the definition of compatibility.
20         Q     Right.  So it says you will be able to
21 achieve long-term compatibility with existing and
22 potential uses; correct?
23         A     Based upon the -- based upon the many
24 requirements of this particular -- of this specific
25 zoning district.

Page 70

1               When you determined that the Dollar
2 General was not compatible with the residential areas,
3 did you determine that that store or proposed store was
4 not compatible because of smoke?
5         A     No, sir.
6         Q     Did you determine that it was not
7 compatible because of odors?
8         A     No, sir.
9         Q     Did you determine it was not compatible

10 because of mass and bulk?
11         A     No, sir.
12         Q     Did you determine that it was not
13 compatible because of noise?
14         A     No, sir.
15         Q     Did you determine that the surrounding
16 residential uses could no longer continue as residential
17 uses if the property were developed with a Dollar
18 General?
19         A     I did not determine that.
20         Q     So you would agree that the surrounding
21 residential uses could continue to function for
22 residential uses if the Dollar General is developed on
23 this property?
24         A     The residential uses could remain.
25         Q     Would you agree with me, as a planner,

Page 72

1         Q     I understand.
2               Now, as a planner, not what is in (e)(5).
3               Are you A.I.C.P.?
4         A     No, I'm not.
5         Q     Okay.  As a planner, have you analyzed
6 compatibility on other projects?
7         A     Yes, I have.
8         Q     And isn't it true that, as a planner, when
9 you look at compatibility, one of the factors is the

10 relationship of mass and bulk to surrounding properties?
11         A     Based upon -- based upon my review as a
12 planner within Escambia County, I have based my
13 compatibility analysis on the requirements of the Land
14 Development Code.
15         Q     Okay.  Let me -- we are cross-talking
16 here, sir.
17               I understand there is a definition of
18 compatibility, but you are a planner; correct?
19         A     Correct.
20         Q     And would you agree with me that, as a
21 planner, one of the factors that a planner looks at when
22 they are evaluating a proposed development is the
23 relationship of the mass and bulk of the proposed use
24 with the surrounding existing uses?
25         A     A planner could look at that.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 73 to 76
Page 73

1         Q     Thank you.
2               Would a planner also look at whether a
3 proposed use would generate noise that would disturb the
4 surrounding properties?
5         A     If it is part of their requirements, they
6 could.
7         Q     And would a planner also look at odor and
8 glare?
9         A     If it is part of their criteria, they

10 could.
11         Q     Turn to -- please identify what you
12 believe are the criteria for determining compatibility
13 in this Land Development Code.
14         A     The criteria for determining compatibility
15 in this Land Development Code is guided by Section
16 3-1.6, but more specifically, it is guided by the zoning
17 district requirements of 3-2.10 under (e).
18         Q     Mr. Jones, isn't it true that 10(e), the
19 locational criteria, are not all compatibility
20 requirements?  In fact, only one of them is a
21 compatibility requirement, and that is (e)(5)?
22         A     But based upon -- based upon the Land and
23 Development Code for reviewing compatibility, one of the
24 requirements is to look at the location criteria.  So,
25 basically, this is what we do in Escambia County inside

Page 75

1 impact?  The negative impact just can't reach the level
2 of unduly negative; correct?
3         A     That's what it says.
4         Q     Is this the definition that you use when
5 you are doing a compatibility analysis?
6         A     Based upon the definition, we do use that
7 as guided by the specific zoning district requirement.
8         Q     And tell me what about the proposed Dollar
9 General would fail to meet this definition.  That's a

10 poorly worded question.  Let me restate it.
11               Isn't it true that the proposed Dollar
12 General can coexist in relative proximity to the
13 surrounding residential uses in a stable fashion over
14 time, such that no use, activity or condition is unduly
15 negatively impacted, directly or indirectly, by another
16 use, activity or condition?
17         A     Along with the criteria, the other
18 criteria, as inside the zoning district of the Land
19 Development Code in its entirety, it has to meet all of
20 those things because the definition just provides
21 general guidance, just a general definition.
22         Q     That didn't answer my question.
23               My question was:  Isn't it true that the
24 proposed Dollar General on the subject property can
25 coexist in relative proximity to the surrounding

Page 74

1 the Land Development Code.
2         Q     Could you turn to Section 6-0.3 in the
3 code?
4         A     Yes.  That is the definitions, yes, sir,
5 the definition for compatibility.
6         Q     What I'm looking at is 6:11, compatible.
7 I don't know if your code is broken down the same as
8 mine.  Do you see that, sir?
9         A     Are you looking at the definition for

10 compatible?
11         Q     Yes.
12         A     Yes, sir.
13         Q     "A condition" -- and I'm reading this.  "A
14 condition in which land uses, activities or conditions
15 can coexist in relative proximity to each other in a
16 stable fashion over time, such that no use, activity, or
17 condition is unduly negatively impacted directly or
18 indirectly by another use, activity or condition."
19               Did I read that correctly?
20         A     Yes, sir.  That is the way that it's
21 worded.
22         Q     That's the County's definition?
23         A     Yes, sir.
24         Q     And isn't it true that under the County's
25 definition that there can be some degree of negative

Page 76

1 residential uses in a stable fashion over time, such
2 that no use, activity or condition is unduly negatively
3 impacted, directly or indirectly?
4         A     Based upon the location criteria, it does
5 not meet the definition of what we consider
6 compatibility?
7           MR. THERIAQUE:  Mr. Chairman, if I may, I'm
8      not asking about the location criteria.  I don't
9      want to be redundant.  My question is under the

10      definition that is contained in the County's Land
11      Development Code.  And I'm reading it almost
12      verbatim.  Whether -- and I will ask it again, if I
13      may, because I still haven't gotten a yes or a no.
14 BY MR. THERIAQUE:
15         Q     Isn't it true that the proposed Dollar
16 General on the subject property can coexist in relative
17 proximity to the surrounding residential uses in a
18 stable fashion over time, such that no use, activity or
19 condition is unduly negatively impacted, directly or
20 indirectly?
21         A     Without me having a site plan, it cannot
22 meet those things.  And I cannot ascertain that at this
23 time.  Nor will I be able to say that it can because it
24 does not meet the location criteria of all the other
25 standards within the Land Development Code.  I have to



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 77 to 80
Page 77

1 take it in whole, not just in part, the entire zoning
2 districts and requirements of location criteria, which
3 is part of this review, in determining does it meet
4 compatibility.
5         Q     So tell me how the proposed Dollar General
6 will create an impact -- a negative impact on the
7 surrounding residential use, sir.
8           UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Ask the residents.
9           UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Yes, we live there.

10 BY MR. THERIAQUE:
11         Q     I'm asking him directly.
12         A     Without me, again -- respectfully, without
13 me having a site plan to review, at this time I base my
14 review upon the zoning district doesn't meet the
15 location criteria.  My determination is still the same.
16 It does not.
17               Whether or not those other elements, those
18 other performance standards, they will have to be
19 reviewed during the site plan review process.  At this
20 time, we are not at this point.  It doesn't meet the
21 compatibility based upon this review, respectfully.
22         Q     Mr. Jones --
23         A     Yes, sir.
24         Q     -- can you turn to LDC 3-50, page 3:50?
25         A     Can you give me a section number, please,

Page 79

1 compatibility.  Location criteria is a very -- is a
2 very, very essential factor in determining whether a
3 proposed use meets the compatibility test analysis.
4         Q     Isn't it true that you were provided a
5 preliminary site plan as part of this compatibility
6 analysis?
7         A     It was only a preliminary review, only.
8 And it was asked of me, if I may, they wanted to make
9 sure that it does meet the location criteria before they

10 submit, make the initial submittal.  That was at the
11 applicant's request because they realized that this
12 could be an issue.  So at their request, I provided them
13 a determination.
14         Q     Isn't it true that in December you
15 instructed or informed Jennifer Bell that it was your
16 opinion that this project did not meet the location
17 criteria?
18         A     Yes, I did tell Miss Jennifer Bell that,
19 the engineer of record.
20         Q     So it wasn't that the applicant had a
21 concern regarding whether they met the location
22 criteria?  It was something that you had already told
23 the applicant's engineer; correct?
24         A     Because it's my understanding that the
25 engineer of record was representing her client.  So,

Page 78

1 sir?
2         Q     (e)(5).
3         A     (e)(5), yes, sir.
4         Q     It's the location criteria.
5         A     Yes, sir.
6         Q     You are saying that compatibility is
7 something you can't determine right now.  Yet, the code
8 specifically provides an applicant or a property owner
9 with the right to demonstrate location criteria through

10 documenting compatibility.
11               I understand your statement about location
12 criteria, but what I still haven't heard from you, sir,
13 is how this proposed Dollar General on this property is
14 incompatible as defined by the County's Land Development
15 Code with the surrounding residential uses?  Simply
16 saying that it doesn't meet the location criteria
17 doesn't provide a compatibility analysis.
18         A     It says, "unique circumstances, documented
19 compatibility."  Under five, it says:  "A compatibility
20 analysis prepared by the applicant provides competent,
21 substantial evidence of unique circumstances."  There is
22 nothing unique.  One of the criteria --
23         Q     Go ahead, sir.
24         A     One of the criteria, Mr. Theriaque, is the
25 location criteria will help us determine the location

Page 80

1 therefore, since she represents her client, I relayed
2 that information back to her as the agent for the
3 property owner or whomever that client was at the time.
4         Q     Isn't it true that I contacted the County
5 attorney, as well as you, to ask for us to tee up the
6 locational criteria because of your position that the
7 property did not meet the locational criteria and that
8 we didn't want to incur the time and expenses submitting
9 full site plans and engineering drawings in case the

10 board ultimately determined that it did not meet the
11 criteria?
12         A     Yes, sir.  That was the understanding.
13         Q     So we weren't trying to circumvent a
14 process?
15         A     No.  No, sir.
16           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.
17                No other questions of Mr. Jones at this
18      time.
19           MS. CRAWFORD:  I have a few follow-up, if I
20      may.
21           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Go ahead.
22                   REDIRECT EXAMINATION
23 BY MS. CRAWFORD:
24         Q     Mr. Jones, you have been asked about
25 noise, odor, glare, smoke.  Are those issues that would



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 81 to 84
Page 81

1 be addressed in a full development review committee,
2 DRC, process?
3         A     Yes, sir.
4         Q     Yes, ma'am.
5         A     Yes, ma'am.
6         Q     Is that anything that you looked at
7 for this threshold determination related to
8 compatibility?
9         A     No, sir -- no, ma'am.

10         Q     Isn't this a threshold determination?
11         A     Yes.
12         Q     So this must be determined at the request
13 of the applicant prior to them submitting?
14         A     Yes.
15         Q     Now, you were asked a lot about the
16 definition of compatible.  Did you look at the
17 definition of compatible before you gave your
18 determination?
19         A     Yes, I did look at it.
20         Q     And did you consider the definition of
21 compatible that is within our code when you made the
22 determination?
23         A     Yes.
24         Q     Based on your review of the definition, an
25 application of the code and definition to this project,

Page 83

1      representative speaker who could address the issues
2      that you have as residents of that area.  And then
3      we will let -- we will let everybody speak who
4      wants to be heard, but there is no need of
5      repeating what one says.  So is there a --
6           MS. CRAWFORD:  Mr. Chairman, if I may
7      interject as to that.  I would ask that the public
8      be allowed or be asked to state their name and
9      state either I agree with the prior speaker as to

10      x, y and z, or I disagree.
11                For the record, because this is
12      quasi-judicial, I want the record to establish who
13      the individual was, their address and their concern
14      with the adverse impact on their personal property.
15           MR. CHAIRMAN:  We certainly concur that that
16      is proper to do.  So --
17           MR. THERIAQUE:  Mr. Chairman?
18           MR. CHAIRMAN:  -- let's begin right here.
19           MR. THERIAQUE:  Mr. Chairman?  Mr. Chairman?
20      Excuse me, sir.
21           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes, sir.
22           MR. THERIAQUE:  I was wondering, we have a lot
23      of people here, and you said we were going to be
24      here until a week from Thursday, if we could take a
25      five-minute restroom break, and allow the Court

Page 82

1 is it your opinion that it is incompatible?
2         A     Yes.  My opinion is it is still
3 incompatible.
4         Q     And when you look at that definition, in
5 order to be compatible, it must be shown that it can
6 coexist in relative proximity in a stable fashion over
7 time?
8         A     That's what the definition says.
9         Q     And this is a proposed store, basically a

10 general-type store, surrounded completely by commercial
11 residential -- I'm sorry -- residential homes --
12         A     Yes, definitely.
13         Q     -- an already established, built-out --
14         A     Yes.
15         Q     -- platted subdivision; is that correct?
16         A     Yes.
17           MS. CRAWFORD:  I believe those are my only
18      follow-up questions.  Thank you.
19           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Board members, any questions of
20      staff, Mr. Jones or staff counsel at this time?
21                (No response)
22           MR. CHAIRMAN:  We normally limit speakers to
23      three minutes.  Even at three minutes, we will be
24      here until Thursday week.  What I would like to do
25      is perhaps, as a group, you have kind of a

Page 84

1      Reporter to break.  She's been going for over two
2      hours straight.
3           MR. CHAIRMAN:  All right.
4           MR. JONES:  I concur.
5           MR. THERIAQUE:  And Mr. Jones concurred.  It's
6      the first thing we have agreed upon all day.
7           MR. CHAIRMAN:  A five-minute break.
8                (Recess taken)
9           MR. CHAIRMAN:  We are going to reconvene.

10                In order to expedite the process, I'm
11      going to call out your name.  And if you would,
12      line up at the center of the podium toward the back
13      of the room.  Come to the podium and state your
14      name and address and if you are for or against the
15      project.
16           UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  I'm sorry.  Could you repeat
17      that, please?
18           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Pardon?
19           UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Could you repeat that,
20      please?
21           MR. CHAIRMAN:  I'm going to call out names
22      that have signed up to speak.  And we will ask you
23      to come down the center and just make a line to the
24      podium and come up to the podium and state your
25      name and address and whether you're for or against



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 85 to 88
Page 85

1      the project, yea or nay.
2                Barbara Notz, Tom Sullivan, Chris
3      Webster, Kimberly Laye, James Henderson, Joan
4      Henderson, Bill Barnes, Robert -- and I believe
5      it's LaRick or LaRock, Robert, John Hallam, John
6      Petit, Shawn Duane, Christine Harper, Bob
7      Sterriker, Cindy Marvel, Sheri Lynch, Lindsey
8      Brown, Jim Matthews, Walt Viglienzone, Brandi
9      Schoenvogel.

10                I think what we will -- we have a lot
11      more, but we'll go ahead and get started.
12           MS. BARBARA NOTZ:  My name is Barbara Notz.  I
13      live at 11501 Gulf Beach Highway, and I am against
14      it.
15           MR. HODGES:  I would just like to ask
16      everybody that is speaking -- we are getting new
17      equipment.  I just have to keep saying that.
18      Please speak directly into the microphone.
19           MS. KIMBERLY LAYE:  Kimberly Laye, 425 Palm
20      Lake Drive, against.
21           MR. TOM SULLIVAN:  Tom Sullivan, 6125 Electra
22      Lane, Pensacola.  We are opposed to this project.
23      We are original homeowners in Chevalier.  We had
24      our home built via construction in 1994.
25                We are asking this board to concur with

Page 87

1                A Dollar General at the Gulf Beach
2      Highway/Chevalier location is not compatible with
3      an established residential community.  It does not
4      meet the criteria of the LDC. as we stated, and
5      would not only break up the community, would break
6      up the community for further community commercial
7      development.
8                We are for progress and appreciate having
9      retail facilities such as Dollar General.  We wish

10      them as well as they seek to build stores in other
11      locations, locations that are available in areas
12      zoned specifically for their business model and are
13      compatible with our local zoning laws.
14                Thank you.
15           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.
16           MR. THERIAQUE:  Mr. Chairman, I have a few
17      questions.
18           MR. TOM SULLIVAN:  Yes, sir.
19           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes, sir.
20           MR. THERIAQUE:  I have a few questions of the
21      speaker.
22           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Yes, sir.  Go ahead.
23           MR. THERIAQUE:  Was it Tom Sullivan.
24           MR. TOM SULLIVAN:  Correct.
25           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you, sir.  I wanted to

Page 86

1      the planning official's decision that determined
2      the location of a Dollar General store at the
3      proposed site on Gulf Beach Highway would not be
4      compatible with our residential and neighborhood
5      communities.
6                We are in complete agreement with the
7      planning -- with the findings of the planning
8      official who clearly cited the reasons why this
9      development should not proceed.

10                After reviewing this decision, we decided
11      to consider where other Dollar Generals were
12      located.  This helped us to understand how the
13      planning board reached their decision to allow
14      development on those sites.
15                It became very clear the board would have
16      no problem signing off on stores near Sorrento
17      Road, for example, the one at Bauer Road and
18      Lillian Highway or Kingsport and Gulf Beach
19      Highway, as well as many others.
20                These locations are all in higher traffic
21      density areas where commercial development had
22      already been established when the request to
23      develop these sites were initiated.  They all fit
24      the requirements as described by the County Land
25      Development Code.

Page 88

1      make sure I had your name correct.
2                Are you an urban regional planner?
3           MR. TOM SULLIVAN:  No.
4           MR. THERIAQUE:  And you said that if this is
5      approved, that it would break up the community.
6      Isn't it true that there are no other properties
7      near your neighborhood that have a commercial
8      zoning district?
9           MR. TOM SULLIVAN:  At this time, true.

10           MR. THERIAQUE:  So other properties would have
11      to be rezoned for your theory; correct?
12           MR. TOM SULLIVAN:  Exactly.  Exactly.
13           MR. THERIAQUE:  No other questions.  Thank
14      you.
15           MR. BILL BARNES:  Bill Barnes, 5099 Grumman,
16      Chevalier, against.
17           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.
18           MR. ROBERT LAROCK:  Robert LaRock, 6021
19      Firefly Drive, Pensacola, against.
20           MR. JAMES HENDERSON:  James Henderson, 41O6
21      Cobia Street.  I'm against.
22           MS. JOAN HENDERSON:  Joan Henderson, 4106
23      Cobia Street, Chevalier, against.
24           MR. BOB STERRIKER:  Bob Sterriker, 1016 Avia
25      Lane, against.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 89 to 92
Page 89

1           MS. CINDY COOK:  Hi.  My name is Cindy Cook
2      I'm from 5067 Challenger Way.  I am against, but I
3      would like to -- I didn't have anything prepared
4      until I listened to the arguments.  But I was
5      listening to the definition of compatibility and
6      what would be unduly negatively impacting.  And
7      although this isn't a popularity contest, it sure
8      is about what is unduly impacting negatively the
9      people that live in these residential areas.  So

10      the definition of compatibility needs to take that
11      into consideration.  It will unduly impact --
12      impact us negatively in the manner that will -- as
13      the gentleman spoke in the beginnings about the
14      community and the neighborhoods in our community.
15                This will increase the traffic in and out
16      of that particular establishment.  I think that it
17      will add more traffic coming down Gulf Beach
18      Highway that wouldn't have come down that way
19      previously to get to the beaches because this will
20      be a stop along the way to pick up beer and
21      otherwise.  So I think that that traffic will
22      increase.  So that will impact me.
23                My son rides his bicycle along that way.
24      There are tons of bicycles that ride up and down
25      that Gulf Beach Highway.  That will increase our

Page 91

1           MR. THERIAQUE:  Ms. Cook, just a few
2      questions, please.
3           MS. CINDY COOK:  Yes.
4           MR. THERIAQUE:  First of all, thank you for
5      your service.
6                I'm sorry.  I didn't mean to interrupt,
7      Mr. Chairman.
8                Are you a traffic engineer?
9           MS. CINDY COOK:  No, but I experience traffic

10      on a regular -- on a regular day.
11           MR. THERIAQUE:  Have you analyzed any of the
12      traffic flows that would be associated with this
13      property?
14           MS. CINDY COOK:  I think that question --
15      yeah.  No, I have not.
16           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.  No other
17      questions.
18           MS. CINDY COOK:  Can I like -- not to get tit
19      for tat.
20           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Pardon me?
21           MS. CINDY COOK:  Not to get tit for tat.  I
22      don't want to go back and forth.  But whenever
23      anything is added to that area, I have experienced
24      the increase in traffic.  So while I might not be a
25      traffic aficionado, I know what my personal

Page 90

1      air traffic if you ask me.  And unduly, I think it
2      will impact the fact that there are a lot of -- a
3      lot of -- I have been in that.  Let me start over.
4                I have been in that community for 15
5      years.  I'm retired Navy.  After 22 years, I
6      decided to live there because it's quiet.  It's not
7      commercial.  There's -- it's just residential
8      areas.  It's a beautiful area to walk, to walk your
9      dog, to walk your family, ride your bikes, all of

10      that.  So I bought that property with that in mind.
11                To come in and build the commercial
12      residence -- or excuse me -- the commercial Dollar
13      General there, I just think it impacts the
14      community and why we all decided to move there in
15      the first place.
16                There are a lot of -- a lot of people
17      that use that particular -- the Gulf Beach Highway
18      as an area to exercise, and that will also impact
19      that because it will just add more possibility of
20      accidents and pedestrians being involved.
21                So I had some other really great things,
22      but I don't know where they are right now.  But I
23      think it will negatively impact us, and that is not
24      a popular thing to do.
25                So thank you.

Page 92

1      experience has been.
2           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.
3           MS. CINDY COOK:  Thank you.
4           MS. CINDY MARVEL:  Cindy Marvel.  Address is
5      6053 Firefly Drive.  I'm against the project.
6           MR. JIM MATTHEWS:  Good morning.  I'm Jim
7      Matthews, 5032 Challenger Way.  I'm not an expert
8      on anything here.  So thank you for the County
9      for presenting the legal issues and reading the

10      compatibility standards and so on.  So I think we
11      have heard that ad nauseam, so I won't repeat that.
12                The -- it seems they have laid out a case
13      where it clearly doesn't meet the compatibility, so
14      just a couple other personal issues that I won't
15      say.  We are already under traffic ordinance
16      pursuant to the traffic partners from the base,
17      pertaining to the Blue Angel practices and shows
18      and different things.  So that addresses some of
19      the traffic that goes down that road.
20                One of the other things, a two years ago,
21      they completed a project building sidewalks on
22      either side of Gulf Beach Highway that entire
23      length from -- how far out do they go?  Out to the
24      Winn-Dixie, possibly.  At least --
25           UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  As far as Blue Angel.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 93 to 96
Page 93

1           MR. JIM MATTHEWS:  -- from Blue Angel out to
2      the district.  There are a lot of people that use
3      those sidewalks that would cross right in front of
4      the Dollar General.  Many -- a couple of those
5      people are in wheelchairs, many of them have baby
6      strollers.  So there is good traffic, lots of
7      exercise, bicycles, so on and so forth.
8                Another thing that happened a few years
9      ago, on the corner of Bauer Road and Gulf Beach

10      Highway, there is a public library.  But the
11      original proposal for that piece of property was a
12      huge gas station/convenience store.
13                And it was a meeting very similar to this
14      at the time.  And that came down to -- at the time
15      the board considered there were some Friends of the
16      Library in the audience, and it was obvious that
17      the store didn't fit the issues, even though it's
18      on an artery.  Bauer Road was an artery for egress.
19           MR. CHAIRMAN:  I'm sorry, sir.  We do have to
20      limit it.
21           MR. JIM MATTHEWS:  Okay.  And I'm just about
22      finished.
23                So anyway, the determination was that the
24      County bought that property, and the library was
25      there, and the convenience store was turned down.

Page 95

1      right foot and actions, not pictures, words,
2      lawyers and promises.  This project began with an
3      incompatible disregard for neighboring residents in
4      an established 25-plus year development.
5                How can they ever claim and predict with
6      absoluteness some future?  You know, the weathermen
7      can't predict the weather.
8                The Dollar General is incompatible at
9      this location.  Drive or walk from Holy Spirit

10      Catholic Church to the library or the state park.
11      Any reasonable person can see the in-combatibility.
12      Words are not as important as being and seeing
13      there.  In fact, the only commercial site between
14      Holy Spirit and the library was converted to
15      residential.
16           MR. BRIAN CHANEY:  Hi.  I'm Brian Chaney.  I
17      live at 5115 Chandelle Drive.
18                Thank you, guys, for your service.  I
19      know it's not always easy, but I sit on other
20      boards, and trust me, it's appreciated.
21                The applicant kind of alludes to the foot
22      that Mr. Jones' denial was arbitrary.  I would say
23      his decision was not.  It was based on the facts
24      that you guys have heard presented today.  And
25      these are in alignment with Section 3-2.10, which

Page 94

1                So I will stop.  Thank you for your time.
2           MR. WALT VIGLIENZONE:  Walt Viglienzone, 5039
3      Challenger Way.  I'm an expert resident.
4                The County denied the request due to
5      incompatibility with the LDC, but there is a more
6      important incompatibility with the neighbors and
7      residents who live all around the piece of
8      undeveloped land.
9                Dictionary definitions are primary in the

10      English language.  Capable of existing or
11      performing in harmonious or an agreeable
12      combination, able to exist or occur together
13      without conflict.  Prima facie evidence is here
14      today, and the badgered tax-paid servants have
15      tried to do their best.
16                President Reagan said, "Deeds, not words,
17      are most important."
18                From the beginning of the clear-cut scar,
19      which is not shown on their schematic, but which is
20      shown twice from two sides, Avia Lane and Gulf
21      Beach Highway, they did not come to the residents,
22      their neighbors, to be good neighbors.  They
23      started acting and let us react.
24                A good neighbor and a business claiming
25      to provide a useful service needs to start on the

Page 96

1      clearly delineate the requirements for commercial
2      development.
3                As you have already heard, traffic is
4      kind of a bear sometimes on that highway, coming
5      out of Chandelle trying to turn left out of the
6      north area, especially on Blue Angel practice days,
7      which I love them flying over all the time,
8      especially when I'm on the phone.  It would just
9      further increase the problems.

10                We talked about compatibility.  No, I'm
11      not an expert.  I'm not a high-paid lawyer.  I know
12      plenty of them, and I do appreciate what you guys
13      do.  You are all paid to do this.  You guys are
14      paid to do what you do.
15                But in a recent market survey, analysis,
16      within a half mile of every other Dollar General
17      store within the County, the median home value
18      ranges within $49,000 to one hundred $126,000.  The
19      median home value within a half mile radius of this
20      proposal is more than $268,000.
21                The traffic density analysis -- and these
22      are FDOT numbers -- on average for these 15 stores
23      is 24,781 cars per day.  Obviously, there is a
24      range to that.  Gulf Beach Highway supports 5,900.
25      Not only does that show an incompatibility with



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 97 to 100
Page 97

1      their own general demographics, they would have to
2      increase traffic in order to provide the necessary
3      income.
4                Another issues that I think we are all
5      aware of is storm water management.  We have seen
6      it across other areas, not just in our location.
7      With regard to the 100-year flood map, any further
8      development of this area would be kind of a bad
9      idea right now.

10                Finally, this appeal carries a subtle
11      reference to Bert Harris.  There has been no taking
12      in this case.  The rules were in place before, and
13      the purchaser did not do their proper due diligence
14      in order to fully understand the impacts of what
15      they were trying to do before the purchase price.
16                To me, this is clear and cut case, and I
17      will step off the stage.  Thank you.
18           MR. JOHN HALLAM:  Hi.  My name is John Hallam,
19      and I live at 650 Electra Lane in Chevalier.  Thank
20      you for your service.  I appreciate what you're
21      doing for the County here.
22                I'm a real estate broker in Southwest
23      Pensacola, and I have been trying to follow this as
24      close as I possibly can.
25                The LDC is in place to establish a clear

Page 99

1      with the LDC, and it meets the criteria for either
2      infill development or documented compatibility.
3      Actually, I think they said not for infill
4      development but just for documented compatibility.
5                This is incorrect.  There are no
6      conforming developments of similar intensity within
7      even a half-mile radius of the subject parcel of
8      the subject parcel here.
9                The compatibility analysis applicant

10      cites LDC 3 -- Section 3-1.6(b) stating that the
11      zoning criteria allow for residential and
12      nonresidential uses to be in close proximity to one
13      another, specifically small-scale, dispersed
14      neighborhood, commercial uses and proximity to
15      residential areas.
16                But they failed to note that the
17      subsequent section, which very clearly describes
18      locational criteria, is with respect to
19      intersection distances for the arterial streets
20      there.  And this will not provide any smooth
21      transition from a large-scale commercial to
22      residential.  That is not applicable here.
23                They also failed to note LDC Section
24      3-1.3(h), which definitively states the zoning of
25      the parcel shall be consistent with the applicable

Page 98

1      County zoning and other land use regulations to
2      provide for orderly, efficient and sustainable use
3      of land and structures here.
4                While technically this is an appeal, it
5      really in reality is more of a de facto attempt to
6      circumvent the LDC, or rather get an exemption from
7      it.
8                In this instance, the location criteria
9      is not met.  The parcel is not within a quarter

10      mile of an artery intersection.  And the
11      application is incompatible with the parcel.  This
12      was clear -- like Brian said a moment ago here,
13      this was clear before the applicant even purchased
14      the property.
15                I actually have the listing for that
16      property right here when they purchased it back in
17      2010.  And the listing says they are going to need
18      a small-scale amendment to the Code in order to do
19      a commercial development here.  So this isn't
20      something that wasn't anticipated.  Just maybe they
21      didn't have someone to put a Dollar General in at
22      the time.
23                So in this instance, again, it's not met.
24      They knew about it.  It's been there, and the
25      applicant has told us here that it's in compliance

Page 100

1      future land use category by either directly
2      implementing the provisions of the FLU or otherwise
3      not being in conflict with its intent, allowable
4      uses, density or intensity.
5                This proposed project here, which at some
6      point in time, this goes with the parts of the
7      ruling here.  It doesn't go with the project here.
8      They said that the setbacks were some unique
9      circumstance.  They may not be later.  It may be a

10      different thing, or they might not pay the same
11      courtesy.  So this is clearly in conflict with both
12      the FLU and LDC Section 3-2.10, the location
13      criteria.  It does not meet documented
14      compatibility either.
15                Thank you-all very much for your time.
16           MR. CHRIS PLOURDE:  Good morning.  Chris
17      Plourde.  I live on 5128 Grumann Drive in
18      Pensacola, and I appreciate the opportunity to
19      speak here today.
20                What I want to speak about briefly is,
21      for this appeal, the burden falls to the applicant
22      to prove that Mr. Jones' decision was arbitrary and
23      capricious.  I'm going to show you that it was
24      neither.
25                On page seven of the compatibility



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 101 to 104
Page 101

1      analysis, the applicant states:  "Allowed uses
2      under the Comprehensive Plan and land use MU-S
3      include retail sales.  Actually, according to the
4      Comprehensive Plan in FLU l.3.1, this statement is
5      true only for parcels that lie within a quarter
6      mile of an arterial roadway, as previously stated.
7                For parcels outside of that quarter mile,
8      retail sales are not included in the allowable
9      uses, and this location is well outside one-quarter

10      mile of an artery.
11                On page 10 of the analysis, the applicant
12      cites:  "The goal of FLU 2 is to promote urban
13      strategies of compact development, which include
14      infill development."  This is correct but only for
15      MU-U, urban designation.  This parcel is very
16      clearly MU-S and not MU-U.  Therefore, this does
17      not meet the requirements of infill development
18      under the LDC.  The applicant has been very
19      creative in this interpretation of the LDC, FLU and
20      CP 2030.
21                Furthermore, the applicant asserts on
22      page 13 of this analysis that no adverse impacts
23      will be generated, such as smoke, noise, emissions,
24      et cetera and previously discussed.
25                The applicant further asserts that on

Page 103

1      Subdivision, which is adjacent to Chevalier, west
2      of the proposed store location.  I have owned that
3      home since 2023.
4                Based on the traffic impact analysis
5      performed, the applicant will tell you that the
6      proposed store will not adversely affect traffic in
7      the current year.
8                Given that is October 18 of 2017, we're
9      only 2.5 months away from the end of this year, so,

10      yes, that is probable true, but to say there is no
11      impact locally, traffic impact locally, is
12      definitely false.
13                While the extent of any impact is
14      debatable, it is inconceivable for even a layman
15      like myself that a commercial enterprise at this
16      location will not impact traffic.
17                The traffic problem on Gulf Beach Highway
18      has been subject to not one but two full-length
19      articles in the Pensacola News Journal.  The first
20      was April 28th of 2017 and August 9th of this year.
21      I have copies of both if you need them.
22                In addition, just this past Friday, 13
23      October, WEAR Channel 3 News conducted a news story
24      on specific Dollar General debate.  Within that
25      story, Escambia County Commissioner and Board

Page 102

1      page 13 that the residents will somehow benefit
2      from the location of this store.
3                And, finally, on page 13, the applicant
4      asserts that this location will somehow result in
5      the reduction of traffic congestion, miles driven
6      and daily trips.  Obviously, this is purely
7      speculative.
8                According to FDOT traffic flow, the
9      traffic count on Gulf Beach Highway must increase

10      by a factor of three just to obtain the lowest
11      level of travel flow of any other Dollar General
12      within the County.  This must definitely will not
13      reduce traffic, daily trips or miles driven.
14                There is also no other shortage of
15      commercial property or retail space within a
16      five-mile radius that complies with the LDC.  In
17      fact, there are two commercial lots near Winn Dixie
18      that are prime examples.  The applicant has clearly
19      not demonstrated a unique circumstance to make an
20      exception to the LDC, and Mr. Jones properly
21      applied the LDC, and his appeal should be denied.
22                Thank you for your time.
23           MR. MICHAEL VARIAS:  Ladies and gentlemen of
24      the board.  Good morning.  My name is Michael
25      Varias.  I live on 1109 Naples Drive in Chandelle

Page 104

1      Chairman Doug Underhill was interviewed by saying,
2      and I quote:  "Putting any kind of retail there
3      that creates a retail traffic generation is really
4      in congruence with the rest of the way that Gulf
5      Beach Highway is set up."
6                I can say with certainty that the way we
7      wrote our Code, the Land Development Code, it's
8      written this way to specifically protect the areas
9      by Gulf Beach Highway.

10                He concludes with an interview by saying,
11      quote, again:  "If you want to see Gulf Beach
12      Highway traffic collapse, put a curb on every lot
13      and put in a commercial business, end quote.
14                Ladies and gentlemen, traffic flow on
15      Gulf Beach Highway is clearly a problem.  The
16      applicant's traffic analysis only compared a
17      proposed store of 15-story 85 unit high-rise
18      condominium, which we all know will not be
19      realistic and never to be put on that parcel.
20                A more accurate analysis that would have
21      been included would be an FDOT rating and a tree
22      impact statement.  Any additional commercial
23      development along Gulf Beach Highway will
24      exacerbate the only disastrous traffic problem.
25                Granting this appeal will run counter to



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 105 to 108
Page 105

1      all current efforts by our County Commissioner,
2      Escambia County Sheriff's Department, as well as
3      Visit Pensacola.
4                Ladies and gentlemen of the board, I
5      agree with County Commissioner Underwood, and I
6      strongly believe that the proposed development is
7      not compatible and does not meet the location
8      criteria prescribed by the LDC.
9                Thank you for your time and

10      consideration.
11           MR. THERIAQUE:  Sir, excuse me.
12           MR. MICHAEL VARIAS:  Yes, sir.
13           MR. THERIAQUE:  Just two quick questions.
14      Thank you.
15                Are you a traffic engineer?
16           MR. MICHAEL VARIAS:  No, sir.  I'm a concerned
17      citizen.
18           MR. THERIAQUE:  And are you a land use
19      planner?
20           MR. MICHAEL VARIAS:  No.  I am a concerned
21      citizen and neighbor.
22           MR. THERIAQUE:  Thank you.
23           MR. MICHAEL VARIAS:  You're welcome.
24           MR. PATRICK FIEG:  Good morning.  Patrick
25      Fieg, 208 Clear Lake Drive.  I have lived there

Page 107

1      that problem is still going to be there.
2                In addition, there is traffic flow there
3      on Sunday at the Catholic Church.  One of my
4      neighbors was involved in an accident there just
5      because of the stop-and-go traffic.  The other
6      thing was the response of the emergency vehicles to
7      actually to respond to her was slowed down just
8      because of the practice.
9                And, lastly, as a husband and a father, I

10      am extremely concerned about making left turns out
11      of the Chandelle neighborhood, which is adjacent to
12      the proposed lot.  You only have a couple of
13      seconds reaction time as it is now.  And with the
14      traffic increase, it's going to be a lot worse.
15                Now, the developer and owner said that
16      traffic will not increase, but this can't be true.
17      The Florida Department of Transportation says that
18      traffic flow at every other Dollar General in
19      Escambia County is 24,781.  Yet, the DOT traffic
20      flow on Gulf Beach Highway is only 5,900.  Clearly,
21      something is not adding up.
22                To summarize, approval of this project
23      will increase traffic and increase safety hazards.
24      The developer's and owner's proposal, especially in
25      regard to not increasing traffic and risks to

Page 106

1      for 11 years.  Thank you for the opportunity to
2      speak today.
3                Traffic along Gulf Beach Highway, every
4      day I drive there.  I think it's great that I'm
5      able to drive on such a scenic place and beautiful
6      road.  However, there are certain things that will
7      set that -- the traffic off where it kind of
8      becomes a problem.
9                One thing that I noticed, and this is

10      while I was employed in Afghanistan, there was a
11      problem with school busses.  We had traffic passing
12      school busses just because of the backlog.  As a
13      concerned parent, I got that so solved working with
14      the deputies.  That was just one thing.
15                The other big thing is the Blue Angel
16      practice.  I have been in traffic for an hour
17      multiple times trying to get on base.  I have
18      actually seen my first case of road rage on Gulf
19      Beach Highway due to the traffic jam because of the
20      Blue's practice.
21                The traffic problem is not the Navy's
22      problem to solve.  It's ours as citizens to try to
23      solve.  The sheriff's department has a deputy there
24      on the Perdido Bay Bridge to try to direct traffic
25      around Sorrento, but it's still not solved, and

Page 108

1      safety, simply does not add up.
2                Thank you.
3           MR. SHAWN DUANE:  Good morning.  I'm Shawn
4      Duane.  I live at 5694 Grande Lagoon Boulevard.  I
5      have been a 20-year resident of either Grande
6      Lagoon or Chandelle.  I appreciate you guys having
7      this hearing this morning.  It's a very important.
8                The applicant asserts there will be no
9      adverse impact on traffic.  I'm going to kind of

10      beat this drum a little bit but not be too
11      repetitive on the previous talkers.
12                The fact is, obviously, it's a business
13      plan where they have to have more traffic.  More
14      traffic is good for business.  I'm a huge proponent
15      of business.  This is what our country is based on,
16      but this might not be the right place, and it might
17      not -- it doesn't appear to be compatible according
18      to our own regulations.  So I do not believe any
19      special disposition should be made in this case.
20                The number one topic of interest in the
21      recent visits to Pensacola with county residents
22      with FDOT was, in fact, traffic along Gulf Beach
23      Highway.  As we have heard this morning, it's a
24      huge and very important issue.
25                A lot of stuff has happened over the last



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 109 to 112
Page 109

1      20 years.  There is an increase in tourism.  There
2      is new residential development along Gulf Beach.
3      There has been a change in the rules with NAS
4      Pensacola in how they use the gates, the
5      publication of Blue Angel practice schedules.
6                All of these combined basically create a
7      perfect storm where that road becomes kind of a
8      focal point or a center of gravity, military terms.
9                A lot of mitigating efforts by the County

10      include:  They have put up signs.  They have added
11      police officers.  They have tried to do all sorts
12      of things to mitigate the traffic along Gulf Beach
13      Highway.  It's just a known problem.
14                So here we are today talking about an
15      issue that is going to kind of take it the other
16      direction.  It's going to add to the problem
17      instead of fix it.  I just ask you folks just to go
18      by your own rules, go by the expertise of our
19      County.  I appreciate folks trying to bring more
20      business, more jobs.  But at the end of the day,
21      this is probably not the right place and the right
22      time.
23                Thank you very much.
24           MR. STEVEN HOPPE:  Good morning.  My name is
25      Steven Hoppe.  I live on Palm Lake Drive in

Page 111

1      just backs up.
2                Right in front of my house on Palm Lake
3      Drive, it becomes impassable because the water
4      doesn't drain off fast enough.  Right across the
5      street from this particular property, there is a
6      house on Gulf Beach Highway that had two feet of
7      water in it for nearly three weeks after that 2014
8      event.
9                So if we add more impermeable surfaces in

10      that area, that is just less that the ground can
11      suck up and pull water away from those houses.  So
12      I think it would be irresponsible to increase the
13      amount of impermeable surfaces in that area.
14                Thank you.
15           MR. CRAIG DALTON:  My name is Craig Dalton.  I
16      live at 9995 Rail Circle.  I'm the former chairman
17      of Florida Defense Alliance in the
18      70-billion-dollar industry of defense that is the
19      third-largest industry in this state.  The defense
20      industry in Pensacola is 6.7 billion dollars.
21                One of the ways the defense industry
22      grades communities is its ability to follow the
23      rules, the guidelines, like the Joint Land Use
24      Study, the LDCs and Future Land Use Agreements.
25                In this case, I think we should follow

Page 110

1      Chandelle.  I bought that house in 1998 and was in
2      and out of it several times.  We have been current
3      resident since 2007.
4                I would like to touch on the storm water
5      issue on Gulf Beach Highway and the subdivisions
6      within.  Most of those subdivisions and
7      developments were built using the current -- or
8      using the 25-year flood map.  We are currently on a
9      100-year flood map, and we don't most of them would

10      be permitted using that map.
11                In the last two year -- two months alone,
12      the north easement of Gulf Beach Highway has been
13      torn up and is being reworked because of storm
14      water and drainage problems that were evidenced in
15      the 2014 major flood event.
16                Chevalier has had two major storm water
17      overhauls since its development, and it's still
18      inadequate, and homes still flood in the back of
19      that neighborhood.
20                Chandelle, which is where I live, we have
21      homes that flood in our neighborhood, too, because
22      there is not a comprehensive storm water management
23      plan in that area.  Everything is kind of
24      disjointed.  So you have basins that fill up, and
25      then there is nowhere for the water to go, so it

Page 112

1      those rules.  I don't think we should trade a --
2      oh, my gosh -- Dollar General for 22,000 jobs and
3      6.7-billion-dollar industry.
4                Thank you.
5           MR. JOHN PETIT:  Good morning.  It's still
6      morning barely.  My name is John Petit.  I live at
7      5141 Grumann Drive in Chevalier.  I'm an original
8      owner.  I bought directly from the property
9      developer back in 1996.  I moved in '97.  So I have

10      been there for a while.
11                I had some ideas on what to say, but
12      there are quite a few people smarter than me who
13      spoke before me.  I think a couple of highlights,
14      the big thing that I say or that I believe is that
15      the quickest way to ensure disorderly development
16      or urban sprawl would be to operate contrary to the
17      guidelines that we have in place, such as CP 2030,
18      the LDC, the FLU.
19                If we take those only as advisory in
20      nature and don't actually enforce them, then we are
21      setting ourselves up for a problem down the road.
22      And it's not just this lot.  Let's make no mistake.
23      Although this is technically an appeal, I think
24      Mr. Hallam said that it's, you know, de facto or a
25      request for an exemption to the LDC.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 113 to 116
Page 113

1                If we grant it here, what is to stop us
2      from granting it farther down the road for any
3      other commercial parcel down Gulf Beach Highway or
4      anywhere else in Pensacola?  I think we are
5      setting ourselves up for a problem if we can't even
6      follow the own rule or the rules, our own rules
7      that we have in place.
8                Mr. Jones, he's the expert on Escambia
9      County Land Development Code.  Mr. Homer, the same

10      thing.  These folks are very smart, and I
11      absolutely would not want to get into a battle of
12      wits with any of them.  I am not nearly the
13      wordsmith.
14                But I think that in order to put this
15      Dollar General in place, we have to show that
16      Mr. --
17           UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Jones.
18           MR. JOHN PETIT:  -- Jones' -- I keep wanting
19      to call him Horace -- Mr. Jones' actions were
20      arbitrary and capricious.  They were not.
21                Ms. Gutcher did a great job of
22      highlighting the buffer and everything, all the
23      good things that Dollar General is going to do for
24      us by keeping that in place.  They are small
25      numbers, so she converted them to percentage.  As

Page 115

1                I ask that you please deny this appeal on
2      this basis.  I was the first one to hit the buzzer.
3      Thank you very much, and thank you for your time.
4           MS. KAREN GROVE:  My name is Karen Grove.  I'm
5      a resident at 3005 Dauntless Drive in Chevalier
6      Subdivision, and I have been there since 1998.  The
7      home was purchased because it's residential.  I
8      don't want in an commercial environment.  Sorry.
9                Construction of this Dollar General is

10      not welcome.  I'm requesting that you honor the
11      original decision from July 24th, 2017.  The
12      traffic is going to be horrific.  I'm not a traffic
13      engineer.  I'm not a property value expert.  I'm
14      not an expert of any kind.  I'm just a resident,
15      one of many that do not want this store.  We
16      already have cops that block traffic when Blue
17      Angels practice.  What more do you need to know?
18      That it's not what we want.
19                Currently, there is a Dollar General 2.3
20      miles from where they are going to build.  Do they
21      really need another one that close?  It's not the
22      only store we have.  We have Winn-Dixie.  We have a
23      cleaners down there, I think.  We have a CVS
24      pharmacy.  We have a Publix.  Not too far away is
25      Walmart.  There is Target, and there is a Dollar

Page 114

1      an engineer when I'm trying to convey a point, I do
2      the same thing.  If I want to say that one went to
3      two, I'll say it doubled.  It increased by a 100
4      percent.  Well, it only increased by one, but yeah,
5      you know, a 200 percent increase, 300 percent
6      increase sounds good.
7                As far as the buffer goes, that is not
8      there anymore.  Make no mistake.  When she went out
9      to do her site survey, my guess would be it was

10      well before the developer bulldozed a clearcut from
11      the north boundary to the south boundary through
12      that subdivision.  And the folks on the corner
13      of -- I believe it's Avia Lane and Challenger now
14      have an unobstructed view of the back of the Dollar
15      General that may or may not be built.
16                Given the demographics that you heard
17      earlier with the mean property values and the
18      traffic counts for Dollar General, I'm not
19      convinced this is actually going to even be a
20      Dollar General.  Maybe it is.  Maybe it's not.  I
21      don't really care.  I don't care if it's a
22      Starbucks.  I don't care if it's a tattoo parlor,
23      an adult toy store.  It does not matter.  Okay?  It
24      does not comply with the LDC as set forth in our
25      own documents.

Page 116

1      General.  Do we need more?  Think about it.
2                I thank you for taking the time to listen
3      to me and giving me this opportunity to speak to
4      all of you, but please honor the original decision
5      that it's not compatible to where we live.  We are
6      100 percent residential more than a mile in each
7      direction because we want to be in a residential
8      area.  We don't want to be in a commercial area.
9      Once a commercial vendor moves in, it's only a

10      matter of time before more come.  And they may say
11      that's leased to Dollar General and won't be
12      developed around it, leases can be modified, and
13      they can build more.  It's the beginning.
14                Thank you for your time.  I appreciate
15      your allowing me to speak.
16           MS. CYNTHIA HOBGOOD:  Thank you, Board,
17      for hearing us.  My name is Cynthia Hobgood.  I
18      live at 10901 Seaglade Drive.  I have always wanted
19      to live in that area.  I looked at it for years and
20      years and years before I had the opportunity to
21      move there.  And I did so, because in those days,
22      it was almost rural.  But now it's definitely
23      residential.
24                We have two east/west arteries that
25      service all of Gulf Beach Highway, all of Sorrento,



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 117 to 120
Page 117

1      all of Innerarity and Innerarity Island and
2      Perdido, the entire end of Perdido Key, are all
3      served by these two roads.
4                Now, on Sorrento, it's already
5      commercial.  They have got Walmart and Target at
6      one end and both our little shopping centers are at
7      the other end with lots of businesses sprinkled in
8      between.  That -- for whatever reason, that artery
9      went commercial.

10                However, Gulf Beach Highway being the
11      other main artery is definitely residential from
12      Blue Angel Highway -- from Blue Angel to the same
13      intersection of Sorrento.  And over the bridge,
14      there is not but a handful.  There is little
15      delicatessen which I would hate -- privately owned,
16      which I would hate to see hurt by this, and a
17      church or two, and that's about it.  A canvas shop
18      or a tackle store.
19                We bought there.  We bought there as
20      residents.  It is -- my guess -- more than 90
21      percent, definitely, residential.  On a
22      conservative side, more than 90 percent
23      residential.
24                Let's keep Sorrento commercial.  It
25      already is.  Let's make Gulf Beach Highway

Page 119

1      all we ask you to do is to follow the rules as
2      outlined by your staff members.  And I think I'll
3      kind of like sum it up for everybody in the room.
4      It's not just a matter we don't want the place,
5      and, believe me, we don't.  But we're asking that
6      we don't do it based on your rules, not based on
7      emotions and those kinds of things, but based on
8      your rules as outlined by your staff and reject the
9      appeal.

10                Thank you very much.
11           MS. PAT COOK:  My name is Pat Cook, and I live
12      at 5443 Grande Lagoon Court.  I have been there
13      since 1999.  I have been licensed in real estate in
14      three different states, including the State of
15      Florida.  I have some history and professional
16      experience determining valuations on property.
17                And as has been previously mentioned, the
18      values of the property around this projected site
19      are greater than the typical values around a Dollar
20      General store.  However, should a Dollar General
21      store go into that place, if I were valuing one of
22      the properties facing the back of a Dollar General
23      or across the street from a Dollar General, I would
24      have to say that those properties would be devalued
25      relative to just the view.  A view of woods, even

Page 118

1      residential because it already is.  If I wanted to
2      live next to a Dollar General store or be able to
3      walk to one, I would have bought in Sorrento.
4                Let's consider rezoning.  The other thing
5      that worries me is something I heard, and please
6      pardon my ignorance.  I am just a layman.  I have
7      heard that once commercial comes in and is
8      approved, within a certain distance either way
9      commercial comes in and will be approved as well.

10      That's the domino effect.
11                And as I look at this, either way we
12      lose.  If Dollar General comes in, we have to look
13      at it and deal with it.  We lose.  If they go
14      belly-up because we boycott it, and that is a
15      definite possibility.  If they go belly-up, they
16      have taken a commercial toehold.  We absolutely do
17      not want that.
18                Thank you so much for your time.
19           MR. WILLIAM PHILLIPS:  Good morning.  Good
20      morning.  My name is Bill Phillips.  I live at 513
21      Grumann, G-R-U-M-A-N-N, Grumann Drive.  I'm a
22      member of the board of HOA for Chevalier.
23                I think we heard it all.  And I think
24      that the folks over here, they have to do what they
25      do.  And when we know it's zoned commercial, and

Page 120

1      if they are not pretty or landscaped, is much more
2      desirable than the view of a commercial facility.
3                I do understand all of their discussions
4      about the buffer, but as I saw their site plan, I
5      did not see any allocation of space for a retention
6      pond, which is another issue that has already been
7      discussed with the storm water issues that we have
8      in that area.
9                I have not heard there has been any

10      consideration to the demographics of the area.  And
11      when I talk about demographics, I'm talking
12      specifically about the fact that the people that
13      live in this area are car-driving families.  They
14      do not have any bus service.  ECAT has been unable
15      to provide sufficient ridership to have any bus
16      service down this section of Gulf Beach Highway.
17      So, therefore, those people are getting places, and
18      they are getting there by car.
19                From my home, the current existing Dollar
20      General is 2.0 miles from my home.  The new
21      location is .7.  I go to a Dollar General
22      approximately four times a year.  So that's 1.3
23      miles I would save to go to a closer store four
24      times a year.  That's, you know, insignificant in
25      terms of being a neighborhood store as they are



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 121 to 124
Page 121

1      representing themselves to complement the
2      community.
3                I foresee that should this proceed, there
4      is going to be a reduction in the tax base from an
5      area that is good provider of tax revenues to the
6      entire county of Escambia.  And this development,
7      if it proceeds, is going to hurt not just our
8      immediate neighborhood but the entire county
9      because you are going to lose revenues because I,

10      for one, am going to immediately appeal my
11      assessment if a Dollar General is placed 0.7 miles
12      from my house.
13                And even though I have been a
14      professional realtor in the past, my current
15      occupation in retirement is as a Domino's delivery
16      driver, so I guess I do consider myself a
17      professional with traffic.  And the waits at the
18      exit to my subdivision have exceeded my five
19      minutes on occasion as it is right now.  Five
20      minutes.
21           MR. DAVID MIDDLETON:  Good morning.  My name
22      is David Middleton.  I live at 5142 Grumann Drive.
23                I'm opposed to this project on the basis
24      of traffic congestion and safety.  As we all know
25      here, Gulf Beach Highway is a two-lane highway.  It

Page 123

1      to identify hazards.  And I know that this two-lane
2      highway on Gulf Beach Highway will be a major
3      hazard if a turn lane is not established there like
4      it is on the Dollar General that is 5.9 miles from
5      my house or a turn lane that is 2.6 miles from my
6      house on Sorrento.
7                So it will create a hazard.  It will
8      create accidents with school buses, with children,
9      with wheelchair people that are on the sidewalks

10      that are going to be built.  So it is going to be a
11      hazard that the community is going to have to deal
12      with.  I disagree with this place.  It's not a good
13      deal.  I will just drive two miles down the road if
14      I need to go to Dollar General to buy toilet paper.
15                Thank you.
16           MR. KENNY PARSONS:  Good morning.  I'm Kenny
17      Parsons.  I live at 10112 Bittern Drive.  I'm two
18      miles away from here.  I'm in a subdivision called
19      Heron's Forest.  And I never stood up in front of
20      folks like this before.  So I just might as well
21      make myself -- an idiot out of myself if I need to.
22                I'm opposed to the project, but I'm not
23      opposed to Dollar General, per se.  And I tell you
24      why, because right now they are celebrating a grand
25      opening of a Dollar General store that my family

Page 122

1      has sidewalks on the north and the south side of
2      the highway.  Our children and our citizens play in
3      this area, and they use those sidewalks repeatedly.
4                To put this type of a location with the
5      limited access into the location itself would put
6      an undue burden on the amount of traffic that is on
7      Gulf Beach Highway.
8                I will answer your question before you
9      ask.  I am not a traffic expert.  I do not work

10      for the Department of Transportation.  I'm a
11      concerned citizen.  I'm also not a rocket
12      scientist, but I'm smart enough to tell you that I
13      don't want a rocket launchpad in my backyard.
14                When we look at projects like this, we
15      have to ask ourselves, Who benefits?  Does it
16      benefit the community?  Does it benefit the
17      residential neighborhood that we live in?  I would
18      venture to say that the only people who benefit by
19      this project would be Dollar General and the
20      developer.
21                Thank you for your time.
22           MR. JOHN LANDIS:  My name is John Landis.  I
23      live 5047 Challenger Way.  I'm not a community
24      planner or a traffic engineer.  But I am a Navy
25      safety-trained speaker.  Okay?  And I do know how

Page 124

1      sold the property to.
2                That was in an area that they asked and
3      begged for something like that to come to their
4      community.  This community is in Hopedale,
5      Illinois.  And that is for the record.  They are
6      welcoming this store because it's needed.  They
7      don't have any other option other than a Casey's
8      General Store that sells gas, beer, bread and a few
9      other things, and it's way over priced.  It was a

10      need.  It was highly desired by that community.
11                So I celebrate Dollar General in what
12      they are doing, and my family wanted to help be a
13      part of that.  We owned the property that they
14      wanted.
15                Well, it's a little different case right
16      here.  If I look from my house -- well, actually,
17      not my house, from the site location and look at a
18      two-mile radius, within that two-mile radius, I'm
19      going to find another Dollar General.  If I go
20      three-quarters of a mile in the opposite direction
21      to the east, I'm going to find another convenient
22      store, which, by the way, they close their -- they
23      turn the lights off at night.  At eight o'clock
24      last night, they were closed, and you couldn't see
25      nobody.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 125 to 128
Page 125

1                But anyway, if I needed something, I got
2      there.  If I want to go up the road, I can hit
3      Walmart.  I can hit Target, and we all know and
4      understand that.
5                But what I want to really mention today
6      is something a little bit different.  For 25 years,
7      I was a general contractor, both commercial and
8      residential.  I have an engineering background, my
9      education, and my degree is in engineering.  I'm

10      not a traffic engineer.
11                I also work for a consulting engineering
12      firm in New Orleans, and I just finished up a
13      nine-year project.  I work with engineers.  I work
14      around engineers.  And as a senior project manager,
15      I got to know all the problems and hassles of
16      construction and development.
17                I used to work in Central Florida also as
18      an independent contractor.  And I was working for
19      Disney.  I was also working for St. Joe in their
20      towns and resorts division.  I have a little bit of
21      experience in what happens when you go into a
22      community, and you develop, and you bring in
23      things.
24                Currently, I have been working for
25      insurance underwriters doing commercial and

Page 127

1           MR. TOM KINNEAR:  Good morning, ladies and
2      gentlemen.  My name is Tom Kinnear.  I live at 5087
3      Challenger Way.
4                I think I have a fairly good sense for
5      how the community feels about the Dollar General.
6      It isn't complementary.  It doesn't enhance.  It's
7      not compatible with the neighborhood.
8                Quite honestly, I can't understand why
9      Dollar General would really want to be in this

10      particular location.  They are not going to have
11      any business.  And, consequently, they are going to
12      fail, and now we're going to be stuck with a Dollar
13      General store that will suit no one's purpose.
14                So, again, I thank you for all of your
15      services for us and listening to us today.  And
16      take all of this into consideration.  I appreciate
17      it.
18           MR. CHAIRMAN:  I'm going to line up some folks
19      behind you.
20                Cynthia Fulford, Cynthia Hobgood, Connie
21      Morse, Briar Chaney, Chris Plourde, Michael Varias,
22      Craig Dalton, Patrick Fieg, Steven Hoppe, Leo
23      Huang, David Middleton, Lynne Tobin, Janet Puskar,
24      Pat Cook, Cindy Cook, Donna Middleton, Doug
25      Godefroid, Mike Riley, Jane Kulbeth, Kris Kelly,

Page 126

1      residential property and building inspections.  So
2      I go and look at places, properties, businesses,
3      and I look for risk hazards.
4                I can tell you this, when I do my survey
5      right now, what do insurance underwriters want to
6      know?  What type of neighborhood is it?  As soon as
7      I start checking boxes that these folks that they
8      all live in an area that is also commercial, when
9      you bring commercial into the mix of what these

10      folks are being rated for their insurance
11      premiums -- I guess I'm done -- it has an impact.
12           UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Negative.
13           MR. MIKE RILEY:  Good morning, folks.  My name
14      is Mike Riley.  I live at 5035 Challenger Way here
15      in Pensacola, of course.
16                One thing that hasn't been mentioned
17      which you guys may be familiar with is the Sunrise
18      Community, which I believe you guys approved just
19      recently, the subdivision located on Gulf Beach
20      Highway, 61 homes.  That is going to increase the
21      traffic on Gulf Beach Highway by itself.  Okay?
22      Along with the Dollar General, traffic will be bad.
23                I'm against this totally.  All we're
24      asking for is to maintain our quality of life.
25      Please let us do that.  Thank you for your time.

Page 128

1      Judith Seward, Tom Kinnear, Arthur Detonnancourt,
2      Gary Mackey, Julie Hogan, Kathryn Workman, J.H.
3      Workman, William McLendon, William Hubbard, Gil
4      Bixel, Kenny Parsons, William Phillips, Judith
5      Smith, Kenneth Williams, Jeanne Williams, Karen
6      Grove.
7                I do remind you that you can say three
8      minutes if you want, or you can say amen.
9           MR. ARTHUR DETONNANCOURT:  My name is Art

10      Detonnancourt.  I live at 10455 Gulf Beach Highway.
11      And I also own a home in Chevalier on 5009
12      Challenger Way.  I don't think that we can keep
13      beating this horse about compatibility because it
14      is pretty obvious to me that a general store over
15      there would be totally incompatible.
16                I also feel that the real estate price
17      values will definitely go down.  I have been a real
18      estate broker for 35 years and a real estate
19      investor, and I feel quite certain that this would
20      be absolutely no help to the values of the
21      properties in the area.  Thank you.
22           MS. CYNTHIA FULFORD:  My name is Cynthia
23      Fulford.  I just wanted to add that my home is
24      11302 Gulf Beach Highway.  I'm on the corner of
25      Cobia and Gulf Beach Highway.  My homestead that I



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 129 to 132
Page 129

1      grew up in 11333, which is directly across from
2      where the proposed Dollar General would be.
3                My father recently passed away, so my
4      brother and sister and I are in a quandary as far
5      as what we are going to do with the home.  And that
6      has been a question of, what is the value going to
7      be.  I have to divulge this potential to any
8      buyers.
9                All of that being said, having grown up

10      there since 1961, I have seen a lot of growth and
11      development, and I am happy that nothing commercial
12      has come within that realm of where I live.  And
13      the Dollar General is not a good footprint for that
14      property.
15                I understand that the property owners
16      want to maximize their investment.  But I think
17      that they also need to consider their neighbors.
18      And they need to reconsider what would be
19      appropriate for that area.
20                Thank you very much for your time.
21           MS. CONNIE MORSE:  Hello.  My name is Connie
22      Morse.  I'm a 37-year resident of Seaglades.  I
23      live at 11013 Seaglade Drive, and I am firmly
24      against the Dollar General store.
25                Thank you.

Page 131

1      for 20 years.
2                Some of the things I wanted to address, I
3      have been jotting down notes.  According to Chapter
4      3 of the zoning regulations, Article 1, Section
5      3-1.1, number four, I don't see how building the
6      Dollar General would preserve the character and
7      quality of the residential neighborhoods.
8                And number six, I don't see how building
9      the Dollar General there would balance individual

10      property rights with the interests of the community
11      to create a healthy, safe and orderly environment.
12                Okay.  Another thing I wanted to address
13      is there currently is a Dollar General four minutes
14      away from the area on Sorrento Road.
15                Also, as far as the noise issue, I don't
16      know how you can predict what the noise issue will
17      be.  You cannot say that it won't be an issue.  You
18      can't say it will be an issue.  But taking into
19      consideration that the only entrance to the Dollar
20      General will be on Gulf Beach Highway, that tells
21      me that the big delivery trucks -- I don't know
22      what you call them, 18-wheelers or whatever -- they
23      are going to come right down Gulf Beach Highway
24      right by that subdivision, and they will have to
25      turn in there to deliver their supplies or whatever

Page 130

1           MS. LYNNE TOBIN:  Hi.  My name is Lynne Tobin.
2      I live at 10330 Foggy Bottom Road, like the metro
3      stop in D.C.
4                And I am against this project.  And I
5      just wanted to point out that there is a traffic
6      sign on our road that says no through trucks on our
7      section of Gulf Beach Highway.  Nobody has
8      mentioned that one yet, so I don't know what they
9      would do about truck traffic.

10                Thank you.
11           MS. JANET PUSKAR:  I'm Janet Puskar at 10324
12      Foggy Bottom Road.
13                I am against this proposal.  It heartens
14      me that our community comes together so
15      unanimously, and I certainly hope you will listen
16      to our concerns.
17           MS. JANE KULBETH:  My name is Jane Kulbeth.  I
18      live at 9625 Grallatorial Circle in Heron's Forest.
19                I am against this proposal.  And my good
20      neighbors have done more than an adequate job of
21      covering all of my objections.
22                Thank you.
23           MS. JUDITH SEWARD:  My name is Judith Seward.
24      I live at 6043 Electra Lane.  I bought the property
25      in 1996.  I moved in in 1997.  So I have been there

Page 132

1      they are delivering to the store, and I don't see
2      how you can say that is not going to create a noise
3      issue.  Plus, it will also create a traffic issue,
4      which we all know there already is one.
5                Okay.  Also, if you do build the Dollar
6      General there, and they have a 15-year lease, and
7      at the end of the 15-year lease, they decide that
8      don't want to renew their lease, then that will
9      lead to an abandoned building.  And we all know

10      that Escambia County currently has their share of
11      abandoned buildings all over the County, which are
12      eyesores.  We do want an abandoned building and
13      eyesore, particularly in our neighborhood.
14                The last point I want to make is the
15      property owners, I looked up the County appraiser's
16      record, and they said that the property owners live
17      in Pelham, Alabama.  Now if you build a Dollar
18      General on Gulf Beach Highway, this is not going to
19      affect the property owners.  I mean, they are like
20      completely out of the picture.
21                So I just don't see how building a Dollar
22      General is going to be conducive to us.  It's not
23      going to have any negative effect on them, but it
24      will have a negative effect on us.
25                Thank you.



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 133 to 136
Page 133

1           MS. KRIS KELLY:  Hello.  My name is Kris
2      Kelly.  And I live at 3016 Corsair Drive in
3      Chevalier Subdivision right surrounding the
4      property.  I live there with my husband.  We are
5      homeowners, and we are raising a small family
6      there.
7                We picked this area because of its
8      residential quality, and we want that to be
9      retained, so we oppose the Dollar General at this

10      location.  We do not feel -- we feel like this is
11      going to set a precedent for additional commercial
12      building in the area and for others to come in and
13      try to add more commercial development in the area.
14      It is not needed.
15                All of the daily necessities that we need
16      are within two miles or just over two miles away,
17      including the other Dollar General that is there.
18      We don't need to walk to it.  We like to drive.  We
19      drive every day.  We go to work every day.  We
20      drive on the holidays and weekends.  We drive by
21      stores all the time.  And when we come home, we
22      want to be home with neighbors and friends and not
23      commercial development.
24                That is pretty much all I have to say.
25      And I just ask that you deny their appeal.  Thank

Page 135

1      I am at 154 Ethel Wingate Drive, Unit 503, and we
2      are opposed to this.
3           MR. BYRON LEIGHTON:  Hello.  My name is Byron
4      Leighton, 154 Ethel Wingate, Harbour Pointe.  I'm
5      opposed to the project.
6                Thank you.
7           MS. BRANDI SCHOENVOGEL:  Good afternoon.  My
8      name is Brandi Schoenvogel.  I live at 11605
9      Chanticlear Drive, and I'm the president of the

10      Chanticlear Subdivision.
11                I would ask if someone over here could
12      put up the rendering of the building with the
13      landscape around it.
14                I would just like to say that I work
15      for a law firm out of Texas.  I work remotely.  And
16      one thing I have learned is when I look at this, I
17      love trees.  I love it when people don't cut down
18      trees.  But when you have a commercial property
19      like this, liability.  There are burglars in those
20      trees, rapists, child predators.
21                I am completely against this.  It will
22      diminish the value of our homes in our
23      neighborhood, too much traffic.  I don't want it
24      anywhere near my new house.
25                Thank you.

Page 134

1      you.
2           MS. JULIE HOGAN:  Hi.  My name is Julie Hogan.
3      I live at 11412 Seaglade Drive, and I oppose this
4      project.
5           MR. WILLIAM HUBBARD:  Good morning.  I'm
6      William Hubbard.  I'm at 615 Dundee Drive in
7      Chandelle, and I oppose it.
8                Thanks.
9           MS. JUDITH SMITH:  Hi.  I'm Judith Smith.  I

10      live at 11150 Gulf Beach Highway.  I have been
11      there 21 years, and I oppose.
12           MR. GIL BIXEL:  My name is Gil Bixel.  I live
13      at 11300 Seaglade Drive.  I do oppose this project.
14                I would just ask that you look at the map
15      from Bauer Road and Gulf Beach Highway East and see
16      how many other commercial properties there are.
17      And to consider if this project is approved, it's
18      setting precedence for other areas.  And I would
19      ask that you be mindful of this.
20                Thank you.
21           MR. KENNETH WILLIAMS:  My name is Kenneth
22      Williams, 1406 Cacao Lane, Seaglades Subdivision,
23      and I oppose this.
24                Thank you.
25           MS. LINDA LEIGHTON:  Hi.  I'm Linda Leighton.

Page 136

1           MR. LEO HUANG:  My name is Leo Huang.  200
2      Chocktaw Lane is where I live.  I'm the property
3      owner on Gulf Beach Highway.  And I understand the
4      concerns of the community, and I apologize.  But I
5      do feel like this Dollar General will be a
6      convenience to all of you-all.  I understand the
7      concerns, and I know at the start, you-all might
8      not shop there, but eventually, it will be a
9      convenience to you.

10           UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  Do you live here?  Will you
11      be using that store?
12           MR. LEO HUANG:  I actually -- I live in
13      Navarre.
14           MR. THERIAQUE:  Mr. Chairman.
15           MR. LEO HUANG:  I have a beach house there.
16      And I do -- I'm sorry.
17           MR. THERIAQUE:  Mr. Chairman, point of order.
18      The court reporter can't take down people screaming
19      from the audience.
20           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Continue with your comments.
21           MR. LEO HUANG:  Yes, sir.
22                Touching -- touching on the traffic
23      issues, it's not going to be a Walmart or the Blue
24      Angels events.  I think it's going to be real
25      small, and the people that shop there will be from



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 137 to 140
Page 137

1      the community.  So you won't be attracting people
2      from maybe in the town, Pensacola town or Navarre.
3      It's going to be people in that community.
4                And talking about devalue of properties,
5      what I see as a devalue of the property is next to
6      a railroad track, you know, a landfill.  Those
7      things devalue a property.
8                This Dollar General is a convenience to
9      the community, and when I buy a house, I don't look

10      at a Walmart or a Dollar General and say, hey, you
11      know, I'm going to offer you 20 percent less on
12      that property because Target is there or Walmart or
13      Dollar General.  That is kind of my perception.
14                And I apologize.  I know everybody's
15      concerned, but I really think this is going to be a
16      good thing for the community.
17           UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  You don't live there.
18           UNKNOWN SPEAKER:  It's your back account.
19           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Have we missed anybody who
20      wanted to address it?  Anybody, either pro or con?
21      If not, I would like to ask staff for a closing
22      statement.
23           MS. CRAWFORD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.
24           MR. THERIAQUE:  Mr. Chairman, excuse me.  We
25      haven't completed our case.  If you recall, you

Page 139

1      closely.  We contracted the property.  We had a
2      pre-app.  We were aware of the locational criteria,
3      and since that time, have been working through
4      that.  And that's what leads us here today.
5                Originally, our intention, if you look at
6      this property from a very early perspective, this
7      3.5 acres or 3.45 acres, and it's zoned commercial.
8      And we had intention or hopes to develop the entire
9      property, as I imagine anybody would looking at an

10      investment property.  We hoped to have Dollar
11      General in the corner and then reserve the
12      remaining property as an investment to maybe
13      capitalize on later down the read.
14                Once we got a little bit deeper in the
15      locational criteria, we learned that really that
16      probably wasn't the best way to go to stick the
17      Dollar General in the corner and then retain the
18      residential or the retain the adjacent property
19      for future commercial use, but to really absorb,
20      have the buffering absorb the Dollar General site
21      and to buffer this from the residential use as much
22      as we possibly could.
23                I understand a lot of the citizens'
24      concerns.  We held a neighborhood meeting last week
25      to try to hear as many of those as we could and

Page 138

1      were going to allow staff to proceed and the public
2      comments.  We never got to finish ours.
3           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Okay.  We will revert to that.
4      Go right ahead.  Sorry.
5           MR. THERIAQUE:  Yes.  Thank you, sir.  One
6      second, please.
7                I call Tom Hodges.
8 WHEREUPON,
9                      THOMAS HODGES

10 was called as a witness and, after having been first
11 duly sworn, testified as follows:
12           THE WITNESS:  Again, my name is Tom Hodges,
13      vice president of operations, Teramore Development.
14      121 Parkway Drive, Thomasville, Georgia.
15                I planned to say good morning, but I
16      guess I will say good afternoon.  I'll start off
17      just by telling you a little bit about who we are.
18      We're a developer out of Thomasville, Georgia.
19      Before we developed for Dollar General, we
20      developed for other companies as well, Publix,
21      Dunkin' Donuts, things like that.  We are a small
22      company, but we do work in Southern Georgia and
23      North Florida.
24                In this case, we identified this
25      property.  We worked with Dollar General very

Page 140

1      address as many as we could.  I understand there
2      are people that just are not going to agree or be
3      in favor of this project.  And I'm not trying to
4      change their minds about that.  Everybody is
5      entitled to their opinions.  The purpose of the
6      meeting last week was to give them accurate
7      information so that they could have an informed
8      decision, an informed opinion.
9                We are trying to do as much as we can in

10      terms of the buffering.  You can see the rendering
11      of the building there.  This is not the type of
12      Dollar General that you see anywhere else in this
13      area.  We are trying to cater to the character and
14      nature of this area.
15                We have gone well above and beyond really
16      anything we have ever done certainly in terms of
17      the buffering, also in terms of the building facade
18      itself.  We're proposing an e-wall around the front
19      to shield any lighting from spilling over from
20      headlights and things like that.
21                Dollar General and their business model
22      really has askew of different areas and densities
23      that they go after.  Of course, you find them in
24      inner cities and urban areas.  You find them in
25      extremely rural areas.  You also find them in



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 141 to 144
Page 141

1      neighbor areas.  And that's what the purpose of
2      this site was, to be a neighborhood general store.
3      That's the market that we are trying to capture
4      there.
5                We have developed many Dollar Generals
6      throughout this area in Escambia County and
7      Pensacola and have done so for the last 15 years
8      and have put them in an array of different areas in
9      terms of density and nature in terms of zoning.

10                A good example, I guess, that relates to
11      this project would be one that we completed last
12      year in Miramar Beach.  It was at the entrance of a
13      very upscale beachfront community.  Home values
14      ranged from three to five hundred thousand dollars,
15      and that's not on the water.  That is back off the
16      water.  The ones on the water are, obviously, much
17      higher than that.
18                In that case, we had a neighborhood
19      meeting and had a much different turnout, and those
20      folks are still very happy with what they have.  We
21      don't have access of the side road there.  It's a
22      very good looking store.  I think there is a
23      preconceived with Dollar General that you're going
24      to get a metal building, and it's going to be ugly.
25      And I understand the fear of the unknown.  But I

Page 143

1      revised.
2                We would be willing to deed restrict that
3      remaining property to have it remain buffering.
4      And these restricts would go with the land.  So I
5      just wanted to let you guys know that we would be
6      willing to do whatever necessary.
7                If there are any questions.
8           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Board members, any questions of
9      the speaker?  Staff?

10                (No response)
11           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, sir.
12           MR. GODWIN:  Mr. Chairman, I have one.
13           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Oh, I'm sorry.
14           MR. GODWIN:  Given the proximity from what I
15      heard the testimony this morning is there are two
16      stores that are pretty close to each other.  Why
17      would you put one there?
18           THE WITNESS:  That's a good question.  I think
19      the closest one is about 2.3 or 2.4 miles away.  It
20      has a lot to do with density.  And, really, to
21      answer that question, I have to give you some
22      disclaimers.  We are the developer, so we own the
23      property and the building, and it's a lease back to
24      Dollar General.  So they will be operating the
25      store.  We will own the property.

Page 142

1      think the finish product of what we are proposing
2      here would be of benefit to this community in terms
3      of convenience.  It would keep people off the
4      roads.  If you think about it, if folks are driving
5      east and west to get to where they are going, if
6      they don't have to go much farther at all than
7      where they are living, then they are really keeping
8      them off the roadways.
9                And we have a traffic specialist here,

10      Bonita Player, to touch on that with any questions
11      you have on that.
12                We want to work with the neighbors as
13      much as we can if there are additional concerns.  I
14      know at the community meeting we heard, you know,
15      reduce -- in the landscaping, reduce pine straw.
16      We would like to see more grass, things of that
17      nature, keeping the lighting low.
18                We can work on things like signage.  We
19      are extremely open and want to work with the
20      community and these residents as much as we
21      possibly can.
22                And then my final note would be, the
23      remaining property, I know there was the buffering.
24      There were some concerns about the lease and how
25      that would all be structured because leases can be

Page 144

1                So we don't work for Dollar General.  We
2      are not Dollar General.  We are Teramore
3      Development, so there is that degree of separation.
4      We work with Dollar General very closely on site
5      selection.
6                In some cases, they say, hey, here is the
7      area we want you to work.  In some cases, they say,
8      generally speaking, we would like to be somewhere
9      in here.  Sometimes it's a little bit more

10      specific.  Sometimes we go to them and say, hey,
11      we've, you know, identified an area that we think
12      would be attractive to you guys.
13                In this case, we worked very closely with
14      Dollar General.  We told -- we, obviously, pointed
15      out to them where the existing stores are.  They
16      run things like traffic, density and things like
17      that.
18                And so while they don't give us all of
19      their information about how they land on their
20      decision in their market planning division, you are
21      talking about a Fortune 150 company that really
22      gets it right a lot of the time, almost all of the
23      time.  So you don't see dollar closing anywhere
24      around, unless they are being relocated.  It's
25      usually somewhere next door.  Those are 25,



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 145 to 148
Page 145

1      30-year-old stores.
2                And so I can tell you that Dollar General
3      and their market planning division has run their
4      models, which are extremely, highly accurate.  They
5      do not miss.  And they have determined that this
6      would be a successful location for them based on
7      density and traffic patterns, things of that
8      nature.
9                And in terms of traffic generation, I

10      know that we have some stores nearby that are on
11      higher traffic roads.  That doesn't mean that this
12      road will become the higher traffic road.  We don't
13      cause something to go from 5,000 to 24,000 trips a
14      day or anything like that.  That is just where we
15      located there were already 24,000 trips a day.  So
16      I do want to clear that up as well.
17                But to answer your question, Dollar
18      General has determined that this would be a
19      successful location for them.  And we do hold a
20      lease with them at this time.
21           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Any other questions?
22                (No response)
23                Thank you, sir.
24           THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
25           MR. THERIAQUE:  No other witnesses at this

Page 147

1      news to Mr. Jones.  He know this.  He already this.
2      He reviewed all of this, and he made his
3      determination based on our code.  He provided his
4      determination based on his authority and the
5      mandate from the Board of County Commissiners that
6      grants him that authority to direct the planning
7      and the zoning of the County.
8                While the neighbors are not experts, they
9      can testify to the facts, and they did testify to

10      the facts related to traffic, related to storm
11      water, related to existing issues in the
12      neighborhood.
13                The applicant has estated that they want
14      to cater to the character and nature of the area.
15      However, the character and the nature of the area
16      and the surrounding area is all residential.
17                Based on Mr. Jones' analysis and the
18      competent, substantial evidence presented before
19      you here today, his testimony and the testimony of
20      Mr. Holmer, the review of the code, the testimony
21      of the citizens, I believe you have more than
22      enough evidence to find that his decision was
23      correct.  It should be upheld and that the
24      applicant has not met their burden to overturn his
25      decision.  So we would ask that you deny the

Page 146

1      time.
2                Thank you, sir.
3           MR. CHAIRMAN:  I will give you both an
4      opportunity to make a closing statement in just a
5      second, if you would like.
6                Staff, would you like to make a closing
7      statement?
8           MS. CRAWFORD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, I would.
9                Meredith Crawford, again, for the County

10      Attorney's Office here --
11           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Mic.
12           MS. CRAWFORD:  I'm sorry.
13                Meredith Crawford here on behalf of the
14      County Attorney's Office.  I am here representing
15      staff.
16                Just briefly in closing, this is an
17      appeal of the planning director's decision.  The
18      burden is on the applicant to show error in his
19      decision, to show that he was arbitrary and
20      capricious in making that decision.
21                We have outlined all the relevant code
22      provisions related to compatibility determination,
23      related to compliance review, appeals before this
24      board.
25                Everything you have heard today is not

Page 148

1      applicant's appeal and that you hold up the
2      determination of the planning official that Dollar
3      General in this location is not compatible.
4                Whether or not Dollar Generals are great
5      in other locations is not the question.  The
6      question is simply:  Have they met the requirements
7      of the code?  Do they meet the locational criteria?
8      Are they compatible?
9                And the answer to all of those questions

10      have been a resounding no from staff, from our
11      local experts and from the communities.  We would
12      ask that you rule in favor of the County and deny
13      their appeal.
14           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Thank you.
15                Board members, any questions of staff?
16                (No response)
17                Applicant, would you like to make a
18      closing statement, sir?
19           MR. THERIAQUE:  Absolutely.  Thank you.
20                Let me begin by thanking you for your
21      patience.  We have here now for almost four hours.
22      And I also want to thank the homeowners who turned
23      out to express their opinions.  This is what is
24      kind of cool about local government practice.  You
25      have staff.  You have property owners, and you have



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 149 to 152
Page 149

1      applicants all weighing in try to reach the best
2      decision that you can.  So, again, I appreciate
3      that.
4                Let me begin by stating that you heard
5      testimony from the residents about traffic.  You
6      heard testimony about storm water.  You heard
7      testimony about compatibility.  However, all the
8      folks who testified from the general public
9      acknowledge that they were not experts in storm

10      water or traffic or compatibility.
11                And especially with the traffic, the case
12      law is clear, that lay testimony on traffic saying
13      that it's going to increase or it's going to be
14      problematic is not competent, substantial evidence.
15      There is case after case that the courts have
16      decided that overturned a board relying upon lay
17      testimony that traffic was going to be an issue.
18                So I would submit that the neighborhood
19      concern about traffic, the neighborhood concern
20      about storm water, the neighborhood concern about
21      compatibility, it does not rise to the level of
22      competent, substantial evidence.
23                I would also note, and I started the
24      presentation that if I had 300 people for or 300
25      people against, the case law is clear that this

Page 151

1      on, we were not hanging our hat on the infill
2      criterion.
3                However, the way your code is drafted, it
4      does provide an applicant the opportunity to say,
5      okay, no, we don't meet one, two, three or four.
6      But we can document that we can be compatible on
7      this property and that there are unique
8      circumstances that were not contemplated by these
9      other criteria.

10                And I believe what the evidence,
11      especially from Ms. Gutcher, demonstrated is she's
12      never worked on a project where you have
13      approximately three acres and a developer provided
14      two-plus acres as a buffer.  And this was not a
15      developer who just came in here and said, I'm going
16      to plop the Dollar General.  I have a commercial
17      future land use designation.  I have a zoning
18      designation.  I'm just going to plop it down and
19      say I'm compatible.
20                They gave up the reminder of the
21      property, and they have stipulated here today
22      because Board Member Goodwin or Godwin asked the
23      question about what happens after 15 years.  He
24      just said he will deed restrict the property.  So
25      after 15 years, it's still going to be a buffer.

Page 150

1      board does not get to vote on an applause meter.
2      The fact that lots of folks came up and just simply
3      said, I'm against, that is not competent,
4      substantial evidence to support a decision one way
5      or the other.
6                What is competent, substantial evidence
7      is the testimony of both staff members and the
8      folks that we called.  I think what was really
9      telling to me is -- let me start with the criteria.

10                It was on page LDC 3:50.  It was the
11      location criteria.  I think it's Exhibit 4 in my
12      binder that I provided to you-all.
13                The location criteria one through four
14      are not compatibility determinations.  Your
15      location criteria are not an overarching
16      compatibility test.  For example, one, two and four
17      deal with distance.  If you are so close within a
18      quarter of mile of an intersection with an arterial
19      street, you are within a certain distance of a
20      traffic generator.  You are a within a certain
21      distance of an intersection with an arterial and a
22      collected, et cetera.
23                Those are straight distance locational
24      criteria.  They don't have an compatibility
25      problem.  The infill development, we stated early

Page 152

1                And the percentages, this wasn't one foot
2      went to two.  It was more ten feet went 200 feet,
3      15 feet went to 92 feet.  Now, this is one of the
4      most buffered piece of property that I have ever
5      seen a small-scale commercial, neighborhood
6      commercial facility provide.
7                The diagram that is on the screen, that
8      is we literally hired somebody to take the existing
9      vegetation and then pleas the Dollar General that

10      we are proposing in the existing vegetation.  So
11      that's what we're looking at, and this is an aerial
12      that is looking down.  So you'll see some of the
13      tops of the houses behind it, but that is
14      surrounded by vegetation.  It's surrounded by
15      trees.
16                You will not have an adverse impact on
17      the properties that surround this particular parcel
18      because of the way that it's laid out, the way that
19      the buffer works.  You won't even -- you won't
20      hear.  You won't see.  There is not a mass in
21      question.
22                And what was telling as well -- and I
23      have known Mr. Jones for years.  He's a fine
24      director of planning.  But what he could not answer
25      to me is the crux of this case.  He could not state



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 153 to 156
Page 153

1      under oath that the proposed Dollar General -- and
2      let me get the language again -- could not coexist
3      in relative proximity to each other in a stable
4      fashion over time, such that no use, activity or
5      condition is unduly negatively impacted.  That is
6      the definition in your code.
7                And you have no evidence from staff that
8      this project fails to meet the definition of
9      compatibility that the County adopted.  You have

10      evidence from Ms. Gutcher who has done thousands of
11      compatibility analyses in the public sector, not
12      just private clients, that this project is
13      compatible and will be compatible.
14                And I will represent to you, I have been
15      practicing law -- and, again, I don't present
16      evidence.  I present argument.  But I have been
17      practicing law for almost 30 years around the
18      State.  And when you litigate compatibility cases,
19      which is what we are coming down to here, with all
20      due respect, I read (e)(5) to be the compatibility
21      prong for the locational criteria, that the County
22      created an option.  If you don't meet one through
23      four, if you can demonstrate compatibility, and
24      it's something unique, then you ring the bell.
25      It's not an exception.  It's one of the criteria

Page 155

1      that it's not compatible has to identify why.  And
2      why is not it's residential next to commercial.
3      Why is one of the compatible factors.  And you have
4      no evidence staff that any of the compatible
5      factors would support a determination of not
6      compatible.
7                The criteria, this is an administrative
8      appeal.  And you had a slide earlier that gave a
9      definition for arbitrary and capricious.  I think

10      it was from the Florida statutes or from case law
11      or something.  That's not what arbitrary and
12      capricious means under your code.
13                Your code under 2-6.10(b)(4)a, the
14      decision of the administrative official is neither
15      required nor supported by the comprehensive plan or
16      the LDC and, therefore, arbitrary or capricious.
17                What that means is if the planning
18      director's decision is not supported by the Comp
19      Plan or the Land Development Code, that in and of
20      itself is arbitrary and capricious.  And we submit
21      that the decision is not supported by the
22      Comprehensive Plan or Land Development Code.
23                The Comp Plan clearly calls this
24      commercial.  Zoning clearly calls this commercial.
25      And we meet the fifth criterion under subsection E

Page 154

1      that the County Commission adopted.
2                So when I look at this, and you litigate
3      compatibility, what creates an unduly negative
4      impact?  Lighting.  We had no testimony that
5      lighting would be a problem.  Odors, noise, mass
6      and bulk.  That comes in when you have a highrise
7      next to a single-family home, and you have the loss
8      of privacy because the highrise is looking down in
9      your backyard when you're using your swimming pool.

10                Or that the scheme in the neighborhood is
11      single-family one and two stories, and you are
12      putting in a seven story.  That changes the mass
13      and bulk and sometimes can produce instability into
14      a neighborhood.  That creates an unduly negative
15      impact.
16                You had no evidence from the staff that
17      identified anything that would cause unduly
18      negative impact.  They simply said it's not
19      compatible because it's a commercial use near
20      residential.  You have commercial uses near
21      residential throughout this County, throughout this
22      state.  And you can't determine that something is
23      not compatible by simply saying it's not
24      compatible.
25                As a matter of law, the person saying

Page 156

1      of the locational criteria.
2                Our client will suffer an adverse impact.
3      They are not going to be able to develop the Dollar
4      General on the property.  This is -- prong B deals
5      with specific LDC provisions identified in the
6      appeal application appropriate to the decision, and
7      the decision was not in compliance with these
8      provisions.  That gets right down to the criteria
9      that we have been dealing with, (e)(5).

10                Protected interest, our client clearly
11      has a protected interest to develop their property.
12      And our client clearly has a greater impact than
13      somebody in the general community.
14                Your fifth prong is almost a standing
15      prong.  If they didn't own property, they couldn't
16      be bringing an administrative appeal if they live
17      ten miles away from the issue.  And our client
18      clearly has an interest in the property and,
19      therefore, is appropriately bringing this appeal.
20                So in sum, there are a couple of other
21      loose ends.  Then I will sit down.
22                The issue of storm water, that is site
23      plan issue.  We haven't gotten to site plan yet.
24      So whether there is an X zone or an AE zone and
25      whether or not there are any flood measures that



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Pages 157 to 160
Page 157

1      need to be addressed, that is at the site plan
2      level.  It's not for today.
3                The domino effect, we heard that several
4      times today.  This is the only piece of property in
5      this area that has a commercial designation.  It's
6      the only property in this area that will have the
7      right to come in and seek a commercial use pursuant
8      to locational criteria.
9                Mr. Holmer put the slide up, and you saw

10      a sea of high density and low density residential.
11      The only parcel that had commercial was our
12      clients.  So unless somebody comes in and convinces
13      the Board of County Commissiners to rezone a
14      residential property to commercial, this isn't a
15      domino effect.  It's one piece of property, and
16      it's my client's property.
17                Lastly, again, I have been doing this
18      for 30 years, and I have done all three sides.  I
19      represent local governments.  I represent property
20      owners that are trying to develop their properties.
21      And I have represented neighbors trying to protect
22      their neighborhood.
23                And just two years ago, I was
24      representing somebody trying to do a restaurant on
25      the beach in South Walton.  And the neighbors lived

Page 159

1      requirements.
2                All we're asking for today is the right
3      to be able to submit an application to get approval
4      that we meet the location criteria.
5                Thank you.
6           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Board members, any questions of
7      the applicant?  Any questions of the staff?
8                (No response)
9                The Chair will now entertain a motion

10      regarding this item.  In your motion, please state
11      whether or not you adopt the staff's findings of
12      fact.  If for any reason you do not accept staff's
13      findings of fact, specifically state why you do not
14      concur.  Do we have a motion?
15           MR. STROMQUIST:  I will make a motion to agree
16      with staff's findings of fact and deny the appeal.
17           MR. CHAIRMAN:  Do we have second?
18           MS. GUND:  I will second.
19           MR. CHAIRMAN:  A motion by Bill, a second by
20      Judy.
21                Any discussion?
22                (No response)
23                Those in favor, signify by raising your
24      right hand.
25                (The board members raise their right

Page 158

1      in the condominium next to it, and they all swore
2      up down at the hearing, we will not spin one dollar
3      in that restaurant if you approve it.  The first
4      time I went there after it was built about six
5      months later, they were holding their HOA meetings
6      there because they could walk down to the sidewalk
7      to a really nice restaurant.
8                So I would submit that folks stating
9      today that they are never, ever going to shop

10      there, I frequently see that that doesn't pan out.
11      But whether they do or they don't, you also don't
12      have a criterion in your code that says there can
13      only be three Dollar Generals in a certain
14      proximity, or there can only be 200 houses in a
15      particular area.
16                Every property owner has a right to come
17      in and ask, regardless of how many other ones there
18      might be on a street or in a neighborhood or in a
19      community.
20                So we ask that you grant our
21      administrative appeal, allow us to proceed through
22      the process.  We don't get approved today.  That's
23      not what we are doing.  We just get the right to
24      submit.  And we have to go through the site plan
25      approval process and meet all your site plan

Page 160

1      hands.)
2                A unanimous acceptance of staff's
3      findings.
4           MR. GODWIN:  Mr. Chairman, I think the record
5      ought to be have that our decision is based upon
6      the competent and substantial evidence that was
7      presented by the expert witnesses that testified
8      before us today, and while we heard quite a bit of
9      comments and testimony from the neighborhood, that

10      our decision-making process was geared to that
11      expert testimony.
12           MR. CHAIRMAN:  You are on the recording, and
13      that will be duly noted in the minutes.
14                (Whereupon, the hearing was adjourned at
15      12:27 p.m.)
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25



WIERZBICKI COURT REPORTING

Page 161
Page 161

1                CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER
2
3 STATE OF FLORIDA    )
4 COUNTY OF ESCAMBIA  )
5
6                           5
7           I, REBECCA T. FUSSELL, Court Reporter, do
8 hereby certify that I was authorized to and did
9 stenographically report the meeting of the Board of

10 Adjustment; and that the foregoing transcript, pages 1
11 through 161 is a true record of my stenographic notes.
12           I FURTHER CERTIFY that I am not a relative,
13 employee, or attorney, or counsel of any of the parties
14 nor am I a relative or employee of any of the parties',
15 attorney or counsel connected with the action, nor am I
16 financially interested in the action.
17
18
19           DATED this 8th day of November 2017.
20
21
22                _______________________________________

               REBECCA T. FUSSELL, COURT REPORTER
23
24
25








	Agenda
	Approval of Minutes
	Att1_Draft January 16, 2019 Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes
	AP-2017-02
	Att1_AP-2017-02
	AP-2017-02
	Location Map
	Zoning Map
	FLU Map
	Aerial Map
	Photos
	Application
	Exhibit A
	Exhibit 1
	Exhibit 2

	Att2_Order Granting Petition for Writ of Certiorari Signed by Judge Duncan 8-3-18
	Att3_Notice of Expert and Supplemental Authority Filed by Meredith Crawford
	Att4_Attachment to Notice of Expert and Supplemental Authority
	Att5_Letter from David Theriaque dated 11_9_18
	Att6_Transcripts from 10_18_17 BOA Meeting
	Att7_Notice of Continuance

